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Metric tons

2,297,350

2,468,306

2,728,353

2,400,697

2,249,770

Sales revenues

EUR m

2,064.80

1,816.5

1,763.3

1,480.4

1,406.5

EBITDA

EUR m

251.7

126.0

134.1

144.3

117.9

%

12.2

6.9

7.6

9.7

8.4

PRODUCTION AND SALES VOLUME
Total production
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Total sales volume
thereof in-house production
thereof traded goods

IFRS

INCOME STATEMENT

EBITDA margin
thereof trading

%

3.0

2.7

2.5

2.9

2.4

thereof industry

%

25.8

14.4

16.1

24.7

16.3

EUR m

194.8

73.6

78.6

94.2

67.4

%

9.4

4.1

4.5

6.4

4.8

%

2.4

2.1

2.0

2.3

2.1

EBIT
EBIT margin
thereof trading

%

19.8

7.3

8.5

15.7

7.3

Financial result

thereof industry

EUR m

–7.3

–4.0

–5.0

–12.8

–5.0

Profit before tax (EBT)

EUR m

187.6

69.6

73.6

81.4

62.0

Profit (net income)

EUR m

145.0

55.0

57.6

61.6

52.5

Balance sheet total

EUR m

1,334.5

1,208.5

1,134.5

1,084.8

1,063.3

Equity

EUR m

715.9

588.1

553.1

518.4

472.4

%

53.6

48.7

48.7

47.8

44.4

BALANCE SHEET

Equity ratio
Net debt

EUR m

81.8

82.4

59.0

83.7

100.6

Gearing ratio

%

11.4

14.0

10.7

16.1

21.3

ROACE

%

20.2

9.1

10.1

11.4

10.1

CASH FLOW AND INVESTMENTS
Cash flow from operating activities

EUR m

160.4

108.4

95.3

130.2

98.0

Cash flow from investments

EUR m

–129.8

–120.0

–23.6

–91.4

–48.3

Free cash flow

EUR m

30.6

–11.6

71.3

38.4

49.7

Employees (year-end)

FTE

2,516

2,373

2,441

2,194

2,102

Employees (average)

FTE

2,493

2,409

2,406

2,135

2,105

SALES REVENUES

IN EUR M

HEINZEL GROUP’S SUCCESSFUL
GROWTH IS BASED ON MEETING
THE HIGHEST CUSTOMER DEMANDS
WITH REGARD TO QUALITY AND
EFFICIENCY.

REVENUES 2018

3.8 M
mT

Sales volume

2,493
Employees

3 trading units

Pulp, paper, board and recovered paper trading

4 industrial sites
Pulp and paper production

127.3 M

EUR

Investments 2018

112

Markets

1.6 M
mT

Heinzel Group, which is united under the Heinzel
Holding umbrella, is one of the biggest producers
of market pulp and packaging paper in Central and
Eastern Europe with its industrial locations Zellstoff
Pöls, Laakirchen Papier (both Austria), Raubling
Papier (Germany) and Estonian Cell (Estonia).
Magazine paper rounds off the group’s range.

Its Trading Business includes Wilfried Heinzel AG,
a globally active pulp, paper and board trading
company, and Europapier International AG, the
leading paper wholesale company in Central and
Eastern Europe. In addition, Bunzl & Biach GmbH
is the largest and most important recycled paper
company in Austria and a top wholesaler in Central
and Eastern Europe.
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DEAR READERS,
2018 was a very satisfying year. Our annual
results are surprising and exceptionally good.
The reasons leading to these results included
declining raw material prices for recycled paper,
moderate energy prices and, simultaneously,
strong demand for nearly all paper and pulp
qualities. Having worked in the paper industry
for nearly fifty years, I experienced a similar
situation only three times: in 1974, in 2000 and
now in 2018.
Our entire market and production portfolio
benefited from this rare market constellation.
Of course, the fact that we had already introduced numerous measures and done our
homework also helped. In the Trading Business,
we acquired companies, and in the Industrial
Business, the conversion and expansion of our
facilities came at just the right time!

The market dynamics changed significantly in
the fourth quarter of 2018. This development
also has its good side as new competitors will
find it difficult to gain ground in such a situation.
We will continue to consistently implement the
strategy we adopted in April 2018.
I would like to thank all the motivated employees, the employee representatives and our
excellent management for their efforts!

Alfred H. Heinzel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Heinzel Holding GmbH

Based on our other major investments – the
construction of the PM3 in Pöls and the capacity increase at Estonian Cell – we will continue
to expand our position; however, we will also
prepare with humility for more difficult times:
Alfred and
Sebastian Heinzel
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TRADE COMPETENCE
Frank Hensel in the Supervisory Board of
Heinzel Group
On April 11, 2018, Frank Hensel, joined the
Supervisory Board of Heinzel Holding GmbH and
has since contributed his trade know-how to the
group’s supervisory body. Hensel, who holds a
degree in business administration,
previously worked for REWE
International AG for more than
18 years, ten of them as CEO,
before transferring to this
company’s Supervisory Board
at the beginning of 2018.
Having started his career at Nestlé Germany
and Spar Germany,
Frank Hensel
joined the international segment of
REWE Zentral AG in
1999.

150 years of Laakirchen Papier
Founded in the mid-19th century, Laakirchen Papier
started out as a local paper maker and evolved
into one of Europe’s leading paper manufacturers
over the last 150 years. On June 16, 2018, the
company took its anniversary as an opportunity
to open its doors and celebrate a summer
party together with employees, friends and
interested visitors. Around 2,500 guests
not only enjoyed live music and culinary
delicacies but were also offered a first-hand
experience of the world of paper-making.
A day earlier, around 200 invited guests,
mostly customers and suppliers, had joined

the company for its anniversary celebration under
the motto “Shaping the future”. At this event, futurologist and trend researcher Sven Gábor Jánszky
offered a glimpse of the future in general and that
of the paper industry in particular.
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CHANGE IN THE
MANAGEMENT BOARD
New CEO at Zellstoff Pöls

BUSY BEES

heinzelsales celebrates 70 years
Wilfried Heinzel AG also had an anniversary to
celebrate in the past year: Founded in 1948, the
company had its 70-year anniversary in 2018.
To mark this occasion, an event was organized
in Domaine Albrechtsfeld, above all to thank the
company’s employees. The organic farm has also
been owned by the Heinzel family since 2005. The
guests not only enjoyed the entertainment program
and outstanding hospitality but also received honey
and honey-based body care products from the
Pannonian beekeepers association. Specifically
bottled for heinzelsales, the honey was a tribute to
the heinzelsales “Busy Bees”, whose tireless efforts
contribute to the company’s growth and success.
heinzelsales will continue to support the beekeepers in Albrechtsfeld in the future.

Andreas Rauscher was appointed Chief Technical
Officer and CEO of Zellstoff Pöls AG with effect from
July 1, 2018 and now forms the new Management
Board team together with Ingrid Gruber. Born in
Zeltweg, Rauscher studied process engineering in
Graz and holds a Master of Business Administration
from Johannes Kepler University Linz.
Most recently he worked for the
specialty paper manufacturer
delfortgroup in Finland for four
and a half years, where he
held the position of Technical
Executive Managing Director,
before transferring to
delfort’s headquarters in Traun as
Head of Corporate
Manufacturing
and Technical
Affairs at
the end of
2017.

SORTING AND INVESTING
Chiemgau Recycling disposes of recycled
paper in Munich
Chiemgau Recycling, the German subsidiary of
Bunzl & Biach, saw significant growth in 2018:
After winning a tender from the City of Munich, it
will dispose of roughly 25 percent of the recycled
paper collected in Munich for two years. As a
result, the total volume of recycled paper moved by
the company will increase, while at the same time
enhancing supply security with this valuable raw
material at the group’s paper mills in Raubling and
Laakirchen. In addition, extensive upgrades in the
sorting facility in Raubling, whose performance and
sorting depth will thereby rise significantly, will also
be facilitated. The location will consequently be
perfectly equipped for further volume increases.
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EVEN CLEANER
Aerobic wastewater treatment at
Estonian Cell

PAPER INSTEAD OF
PLASTIC
Showcase project in Pöls
“European Paper Bag Day”, an initiative of leading
European manufacturers of kraft paper and paper
bags, was held on October 18, 2018. The aim was
to send a signal for the reduction of plastic waste
and, consequently, against climate change.
As one of the co-initiators and supporters of this
initiative, Zellstoff Pöls used the occasion to present
a showcase project for local retail and commercial companies developed in cooperation with the
municipality of Pöls Oberkurzheim: For two years,
more than 20 shops in Pöls will receive paper
shopping bags and bags for bread free of charge.
From the bakery to the supermarket, the consumption of plastic packaging will be reduced and the
burden on the environment will be relieved.

One of the most important investments of the
Estonian pulp mill Estonian Cell in 2018 was the
addition of an aerobic process to the existing wastewater treatment plant. The resulting reduction of
the use of electricity once again increased not only
the mill’s environmental performance but also its
efficiency. At the same time, the new system eliminates a bottleneck in the wastewater treatment,
and the quality of the wastewater treated has also
been improved significantly – ideal conditions for
Estonian Cell to successfully continue to pursue its
ambitious growth strategy for pulp production.

EXHIBITED
Europapier at Frankfurter Buchmesse
In October 2018, Frankfurter Buchmesse, the
most important international trade fair for print
and digital content of all types, was held for the
70 th time. It is a meeting place for experts from the
publishing sector and their partners from technical
and creative industries. 7,503 companies from
109 countries were represented at the fair in 2018.
Among them, with its own booth for the first time:
Europapier – with a striking presentation covering
not only its wide assortment of paper and board
designed to meet the requirements of the publishing industry but also its services and high service
standards.
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SCHOOL TRIP TO THE
WORKING WORLD
Teach for Austria visits Laakirchen Papier

FORWARD-LOOKING
Raubling Papier is getting fit for the future
The goal of Raubling Papier, the Bavarian paper
mill of Heinzel Group, is to become one of the
region’s most attractive employers – because the
company not only wants to retain its current employees in the long term, but also aims to attract
the best and the brightest when recruiting new
people. After all, competent, highly qualified and
responsible employees are what it takes to meet
the challenges of the future and to implement
larger investment projects successfully. In order

to ensure this, Raubling Papier started a cultural
change project involving the entire workforce in
2018. It aims for even more individual responsibility of the employees and further improvements
in their know-how and capabilities in order to
strengthen the location as a whole and make it fit
for the future.

With the help of Teach for Austria, an education initiative
launched in 2012, two classes of the secondary school AdolfLoos-Gasse in Vienna visited the paper mill in Laakirchen in
May 2018. Heinzel Group, one of the program’s sponsors,
provided for the trip and lunch for the 45 students and their
teachers, but above all offered them a perfectly organized
day full of hands-on information about paper production.
Guided by Laakirchen CEO Thomas Welt, the pupils explored
the different stations of the paper mill and were given exciting
insights into the operations and daily working routine in paper
manufacturing. Enjoying some ice cream at the end of their
visit, the students had an opportunity to share ideas about
their newly acquired knowledge with him. Their positive feedback showed that the trip to Laakirchen was definitively one of
the highlights of their school year.
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EXCELLENT
First presented in March 2005, they have become a tradition at Heinzel Group by now: the
Awards of Excellence, a prize to annually honor employees showing especially high commitment. On April 2, 2019, the coveted awards were presented to the winners at the Albertina in
Vienna. Of a total of twelve nominees – including a graduate of the Heinzel trainee program for the
second time – three participants convinced the panel of judges with their outstanding achievements.
COMPANY

NOMINEE

PROJECT

heinzelsales

Krunoslav Meic

Excellent results in pulp and paper exports from Russia

heinzelsales

Nadja Blenk

Operational excellence in order administration and training

Europapier/
Moderne Verpackung

Jochen Gruner

Successful product and key account management for protective
packaging solution projects

Europapier

Tamás Kóscó

Achieving market leadership in the office paper business in Hungary

Estonian Cell

Marek Kobin

Out-of-the-box thinking in response to the unplanned 12-day shutdown
of pulp production in Estonia

Estonian Cell

Reeli Pärs

Highly professional pulp allocation and logistics during the unplanned
12-day shutdown of EC

Raubling Papier

Matthias Conrad

Successful merger of the sales departments of Laakirchen and
Raubling

Raubling Papier

Marko Lesiak

Significant production and efficiency increase in Raubling

Zellstoff Pöls

Markus Schriefl & team

IT integration of heinzelsales’ acquisition Firgos in Malaysia in record time

Zellstoff Pöls

Klaus Eibinger & team

New cost-saving bleaching technology for improved pulp quality

Zellstoff Pöls

Heinz Kaiser

Significant energy savings for sheet dryer

Laakirchen Papier

Jan Reibert & team

Successful conversion of the PM10 from SC paper to packaging paper
Winners
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SUCCESSFUL

Winner Jan Reibert & team
Jan Reibert, Production Manager in Laakirchen, and
his team were presented with a well-deserved Award of
Excellence for the conversion of the PM10 from SC paper
to packaging paper made of 100 percent recycled
material in only three months, and for the start-up curve,
which was significantly above plan. Right from the start,
the quality of the packaging paper produced in Laakirchen
was excellent and fully met customer requirements.

EXEMPLARY

Winner Matthias Conrad
Matthias Conrad, Head of Sales Starboard, received
an Award of Excellence for his outstanding performance in merging the sales activities of the
mills in Laakirchen and Raubling. In addition to
his tasks as Head of Sales in Raubling and his
sales responsibility for the Southern German
region, he also took on responsibility for
marketing the packaging paper produced by
the converted PM10 in Laakirchen. On top of
that, he showed exemplary commitment to
the training and development of the Starboard
team.

EFFICIENT

Winner Marko Lesiak
The third Award of Excellence went to Marko Lesiak,
Head of Production at Heinzel Group’s Bavarian paper
mill in Raubling. Based on organizational improvement, optimized processes and clear responsibilities,
he achieved a significant increase in the average daily
production volume, leading the mill to a new production record. In addition, he found a way to substantially
reduce the use of pulp and starch in the production, thus
further improving the mill’s efficiency.
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Our internationally operating
trading company heinzelsales and our wholesaler
Europapier, which focuses
on Austria and CEE, turn
over more than 3 million metric tons of paper,
packaging material and
related products per year.
More than 30 offices – from
Vienna to Melbourne and
from Cairo to Vladivostok –
provide support and ensure
product delivery to thousands of customers across
all continents.

04
You come across products
from our portfolio every
day and on every corner –
whether it is the bag your
breakfast comes in at the
bakery, a billboard on the
side of the road, a magazine
from the kiosk, the packaging for products ordered
online or advertisements on
buses ...
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Our sustainable loop closes with
Bunzl & Biach. This is where
recovered paper and packaging
from industrial and commercial
companies are collected and
sorted, and then also delivered
back to our mills as a valuable
secondary raw material, where it
is recycled to new paper.

THE WORLD OF HEINZEL GROUP
A sustainable cycle

02
Every year we produce more
than 1 million metric tons
of publication and packaging paper on five paper
machines. While publication
paper is primarily supplied
to large printing houses
for magazines and mail
circulars, we deliver packaging paper to companies
manufacturing products like
paper bags or cardboard.

01
The production of pulp
requires wood, a valuable
and continuously renewable
raw material. At our two
pulp mills in Austria and
Estonia we produce roughly
540,000 metric tons of pulp
per year. In addition to external customers throughout
the world, our mill in Pöls
also supplies the own paper
machine.
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG BUNZL&BIACH GMBH

Vienna/AT, 29 branches worldwide

Vienna/AT, subsidiaries in 13 countries

Vienna/AT, Linz/AT, subsidiaries in CZ, SK and
DE

ACTIVITIES

Global pulp and paper trading

Paper wholesaling

Recovered paper and packaging collection
and trading

PRODUCTS

Pulp, paper, board

Office and printing paper, board and advertising
technology, hygiene products, industrial packaging
solutions

Recovered paper logistics, document shredding, waste disposal

Paper producers, processors, printers,
publishers, wholesalers, packaging companies

Printers, packaging merchants, office paper retailers,
business and industry

Business and industry

Global – over 100 countries worldwide

Russia, Poland, Austria, Hungary,
Czech Republic, Slovenia

Austria, Eastern Europe

SALES REVENUES
2018

EUR 708.3 million

EUR 564.7 million

EUR 169.4 million

EMPLOYEES 2018
(AVERAGE)

133

1,052

188

LOCATION

CUSTOMERS

MAIN MARKETS

SALES VOLUME /
PRODUCTION VOLUME 2018

2,458,013mT

Sales volume

565,153mT

Sales volume

1,331,634mT

The Heinzel Group companies possess
all the standard environmental and production certificates.

Sales volume
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ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

AS ESTONIAN CELL

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH

Pöls/AT

Laakirchen/AT

Kunda/EE

Raubling/DE

Pulp and paper production

Paper production

Pulp production

Paper production

Bleached kraft pulp, bleached
kraft paper

Super calendered gravure and offset
uncoated paper, containerboard

Bleached aspen BCTMP pulp

Kraft Top Liner, test liner, fluting

Paper producers, bag and
packaging industry

Publishers, printers, retail chains,
packaging industry

Paper industry

Corrugated packaging producers

Italy, Austria, Slovenia, Germany,
France, Mediterranean region

Germany, Italy, Austria, Central and
Eastern Europe

Asia, Germany, France, Italy

Germany, Italy, Austria

EUR 324.0 million

EUR 301.4 million

EUR 80.3 million

EUR 117.7 million

446

426

88

153

473,153mT

Production volume

690,555mT

Production volume

164,956mT

Production volume

228,745mT

Production volume
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ON COURSE FOR
FURTHER GROWTH
All signs are pointing to growth at
Heinzel Group just under a year after
we adopted our plan for the group’s
further development. Record volumes,
sales revenues and earnings in nearly
all companies of the group confirm
our course, which is geared towards a
sales revenue target of EUR 3 billion.

EBITDA, at EUR 251.7 million, significantly
exceeded the level of the previous year and
operating cash flow also rose substantially to
EUR 160.8 million. What is particularly satisfactory: These consolidated figures are based on
increases in sales revenues and earnings in all
companies of the group, which are significant in
some cases. With these results, we clearly exceeded all our plans and considerably increased
our investment capacity.

On our way to reaching this goal, we already
achieved and even surpassed an important
milestone in the past year: the EUR 2 billion
mark in sales revenue. Supported by globally
high product prices and low raw material prices,
in particular for recovered paper, but also driven
by excellent performance of basically all our
mills and trade companies, 2018 was the best
year to date in the history of Heinzel Group.
Overall, we increased the group’s sales revenues
by 13.7 percent to EUR 2.06 billion in 2018;

The positive development of the past year confirms our ambitious growth target. What is more,
the strategy of increased integration and extension of our value chain has once again proven
to be effective. Although the year 2018 was also
heavily influenced by external factors, the strong
results are to a considerable extent based on
courageous investment decisions of the past
years, above all the construction of the PM2 in
Pöls, which specializes in kraft paper, the conversion of the PM10 in Laakirchen to packaging

2.1

SALES REVENUES 2018

13.7

SALES REVENUE
INCREASE

252

EBITDA 2018

paper and the expansion of our pulp capacities
in Pöls and Estonia. Thanks to forward-looking
decisions and the willingness to make some, in
part, fundamental changes, we can now offer
the right products and have sufficient capacity
to produce them. In addition, the volatility of our
business has noticeably decreased as a result
of diversifying our product portfolio, which now
ranges from pulp and different types of paper
to energy. All of this is complemented and
supported by our powerful trade companies,
which – in addition to comprehensive business
for third parties – ensure the marketing of our
products and the supply of our mills with the
valuable raw material recovered paper.
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INDUSTRY: PRODUCTION
RECORDS, EXTENSIVE
INVESTMENTS
We achieved production records for both pulp
and paper in 2018: 547,623 metric tons of
market pulp, 314,082 metric tons of graphic
paper and 695,705 metric tons of packaging paper represent all-time highs in all three
product segments. Nearly all Heinzel Group
mills contributed to this development: Laakirchen Papier increased its production volume to
690,556 metric tons, which was in part also
due to the start of containerboard production in
2017; in Pöls both product segments recorded
growth with 382,667 metric tons of market pulp
and more than 90,000 metric tons of paper, and
Raubling Papier raised its volume to 228,745
metric tons.
The conversion of the PM10 in Laakirchen to
containerboard production already turned out
to be successful during its first full year of operation. At 376,474 metric tons, the machine’s
production volume was clearly above plan. This
impressive start – such a steep start-up curve
cannot be taken for granted – was only possible
due to the collaboration of our entire organiza-

HEINZEL GROUP

tion. In addition to the team directly involved in
the conversion project, sales and logistics also
played a decisive role. After all, the paper produced also had to be marketed and delivered.
All of this took place against the background
that the switch to “brown paper” means a
fundamental change for the entire location and
also included an extensive learning process. Our
colleagues did an outstanding job overcoming
all of these challenges.
The investment in the PM11, which produces
graphic paper, also proved to be a success
in 2018. Although this market is generally
characterized by declining volumes, we were
again able to produce and sell higher quantities
thanks to the strong demand for the qualities
we produce. To capitalize on these positive
dynamics, we have decided to invest in another
capacity increase of this machine.
Thanks to the excellent performance of the
entire project team, the construction of the new
paper machine PM3 in Pöls, which was decided
on in the previous year, ran on schedule in
2018. This machine will supply kraft paper for
sales starting from June 2019. Preparations
for the commercialization of the new Starkraft
qualities produced here are also underway and
the employees required for the operation of
the new machine are already on board and are
currently being trained. Given the positive economic situation, filling the 65 newly created jobs

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS:
BUILDING EUROPE’S MOST MODERN
PAPER MACHINE
Zellstoff Pöls, Heinzel Group’s Styrian pulp and paper
producer, is currently investing a total of EUR 130
million in the construction of a second paper machine.
The company will thus continue its ambitious growth
course in the production of Starkraft branded bleached
kraft paper. After commissioning the PM2, which was
built specifically for this product, in 2013, the investment in the PM3 will now make the location the largest
market producer in the global MG kraft paper segment.
Starkraft is used for the packaging of hygiene products
and food as well as in the medical segment.
NEW DIMENSIONS
As was the case with the PM2, the construction of the
new machine is going as planned. The heart of the
PM3 was already delivered in August 2018: the huge
steel cylinder responsible for drying and glazing and,
consequently, for the surface quality of the paper. The
machine can manufacture machine glazed paper of
particularly high strength – a paper quality that has
seen increasingly strong demand in the past years.
And not least thanks to the EU’s clear commitment to
a significant reduction of plastic by 2021, demand will
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in Pöls with qualified candidates in time was a
remarkable achievement.
continue to rise. The cylinder boasts an impressive
diameter of 7.3 meters and has a total weight of roughly
200 metric tons, making it the world’s largest welded
high-precision drying cylinder at present.
The PM3 is scheduled to start operations in the summer of 2019 with an annual production capacity of
100,000 metric tons, doubling the production volume
of kraft paper in Pöls to roughly 200,000 metric tons.
With this increase in performance, the mill will be optimally equipped for the global market.
IMPETUS FOR THE REGION
The region around the Pöls mill once again benefits
from this major investment of Heinzel Group. In the
course of the construction work the group again attached great importance to local value creation, providing economic impetus in the entire region. In addition,
65 new employees were hired and are already being
trained. With nearly 500 employees, the mill ranks
among the largest and most stable employers and is a
crucial economic factor in Upper Styria today.

The world’s largest drying cylinder is lifted into the hall
of the PM3.

Another expansion is on the agenda of our pulp
mill in Estonia: In 2018 we added an aerobic
process to the wastewater treatment plant. In
2019, another step towards enhancing efficiency by saving energy and chemicals will be
implemented. In addition, various preparations
for a further increase in production capacity
were carried out in the past year. During a first
phase, capacity will be increased to 185,000
metric tons by June 2019.
We made several smaller investments in our
paper mill in Raubling, Bavaria, in 2018. The
objective is to further improve the mill’s efficiency and profitability and to pave the way for a
capacity expansion in the medium term.
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TRADING: ONGOING
GLOBALIZATION AND
DIVERSIFICATION
Our trade companies also look back on a solid
volume increase in 2018 even though our
third suppliers were only able to deliver lower
quantities due to strong demand in their home
markets: Overall, they sold a total of 3,834,766
metric tons in the past year, of which 1,537,416
metric tons came from Heinzel Group’s own
production. While heinzelsales expanded its
trading volume, which was in part also due to
substantially higher volumes from the group, in
particular from Laakirchen, Europapier again
recorded a remarkable, though slightly lower
business volume of 564,566 metric tons. The
volume of recovered paper supplied by Bunzl &
Biach rose to 1,331,634 metric tons.
We also achieved good success in the implementation of our strategy in the Trading
Business in 2018: With the acquisition of Firgos,
a Malaysian trading company, heinzelsales took
an important step in the Asia-Pacific region,
expanding its international network even further
in the interest of globalizing its business. With
offices in Kuala Lumpur as well as in Ho Chi

HEINZEL GROUP

NEW HEINZELSALES BASE
IN ASIA-PACIFIC
heinzelsales scored an important success in its
globalization strategy in April 2018: The international trading house of Heinzel Group acquired
100 percent of the shares in Firgos (Malaysia)
Sdn. Bhd., a company specializing in paper and
board trading. heinzelsales thus secured a new
regional trading hub for paper and board trading
in the growth markets of Southeast Asia as well
as the selling rights for board products in Asia.
With 14 employees at the head office in Kuala
Lumpur, Malaysia, and another five employees at
representative offices in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam, and Shenzhen, China, Firgos Malaysia –
now renamed to Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific –
provides customers in Southeast Asia with
paper and board products from suppliers from
all over the world. Integrated into the network
of heinzelsales, the new trading hub can take
advantage of Heinzel Group’s long-standing
relationships with paper and board producers
all over the world, offering existing and new
Asian customers a broader and more attractive
product portfolio. In turn, heinzelsales benefits
from gaining significantly better access to the

Southeast Asian market through direct contact
with the customers in the region. In addition,
Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific is well positioned for
exporting paper and board products from producers in China and other Asian countries into
the rest of the world.
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Minh City in Vietnam, Firgos Malaysia – now
renamed to Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific – is our new
two-way trading hub for paper and board sales into
Asia and out of Asia.
We also made progress in the diversification of the
Europapier portfolio following a second acquisition
in 2018: the takeover of Moderne Verpackung
Carl Bernh. Hoffmann, a company focusing on
customized packaging solutions for industrial and
commercial customers. Specializing in the support
of customers in the B2B business, the company
is excellently positioned in the area of industrial
(transport) packaging. In parallel with this highly
interesting new product segment, Europapier
is continuously advancing the expansion of the
hygiene products and visual communications
business segments.
Like its two sister companies, Bunzl & Biach also
completed two smaller acquisitions in 2018: With
the acquisition of M-Cyklus, a recovered paper
company based in Prague, it increased its presence in Central Europe. In addition, it acquired the
remaining shares in Austrian Recycling, also based
in the Czech Republic, in which we had previously
held a 51 percent share. Bunzl & Biach excelled in
the task of supplying the paper mills in our group
with recovered paper in 2018. The good start-up
curve of the PM10 in Laakirchen in particular created considerable challenges in this respect.

EUROPAPIER ADDS PACKAGING
SOLUTIONS TO PORTFOLIO
With the complete takeover of packaging
specialist Carl Bernh. Hoffmann, Europapier
took another successful step towards further
diversification.
Specializing in smart packaging solutions for
industrial and commercial customers, the new
subsidiary offers substantial advisory expertise
and primarily serves B2B customers. A major
focus lies on industrial (transport) packaging, for
example for the automotive supply industry or
for plant engineering companies. The company,
which has been renamed “Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH”, will not only continue its
operations under the Europapier umbrella but
will also be expanded as a center of expertise
for packaging material trading within
the group.

WIN-WIN SITUATION
The integration of Moderne Verpackung
Hoffmann into Europapier Group will bring
advantages for both companies: For Europapier,
the acquisition represents another major step
towards expanding its customer and product
portfolio. In addition to the existing business
areas printing, packaging and office paper, as
well as hygiene products and visual communication, the company’s competences now also
include industrial packaging solutions. Moderne
Verpackung Hoffmann, on the other hand, gains
access to the entire logistics infrastructure as
well as to the existing customers of Europapier
Group. This will pave the way for further growth
for the new business area.
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OPTIMIZATION AND
EFFICIENCY INCREASES
THROUGHOUT THE GROUP
In addition to these specific development
measures in the individual group companies,
we also take group-wide initiatives to improve
processes and increase efficiency. One of the
main focus areas has been digitalization, a
topic we are currently working on intensively. On
the one hand, we see great potential to increase
customer benefits by continuing to improve our
service through innovative digital solutions. On
the other hand, there are diverse opportunities
to further increase efficiency in production and
administration.
In 2018, we launched the “Heinzel Connect”
project with representatives from all business
segments in order to sound out these opportunities in a structured manner and derive concrete
measures. With great success: A variety of 16
highly interesting projects are currently being
implemented, while others are waiting in the
pipeline.

HEINZEL GROUP

But we also permanently work on our cost
structure aside from digitalization, for example
through improvements in logistics and purchasing. We also place a focus on the topic of human resources, because it is not just the good
economic development that has caused fierce
competition for qualified employees for years
now – at the headquarters in Vienna as well as
at our decentralized production sites. We are
currently proactively addressing this challenge
with a number of initiatives, with topics ranging
from increased occupational safety to the workplace of the future. These issues will also be an
important focus of our work in 2019.

HEINZEL CONNECT:
DIGITALIZING THE COMPANY
Digitalization keeps moving forward – and so does
Heinzel Group. To capture the great potential of digital
solutions to improve customer benefits and optimize
processes, Heinzel Group launched “Heinzel Connect”
in 2018, a large-scale project designed to lead the
entire Group into the digital age. Heinzel Connect deliberately involves employees from all business segments,
hierarchy levels and task areas with the aim to incorporate not only the management perspective but also the
angle of everyday practice without any filter.
After a kick-off workshop and an introductory “digital
fitness check” in May 2018, around 20 employees developed possible digitalization strategies for the group.
The goal was to design a future-oriented development for
Heinzel Group based on the current technology trends,
to improve its competitiveness and to make it more
attractive for employees, customers and suppliers – in
other words, to make it a digital market leader in the
industry. The challenge was to turn abstract terms such
as “blockchain” or “artificial intelligence” into tangible,
concrete measures for the group. This challenge was
met with great success: In total, 40 initiatives were
created in the course of the process. They were split
into the three categories “Partner Centricity”, “Process
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Integration” and “Organizational Agility”, which
at the same time form the three cornerstones of
Heinzel Connect.
The first 16 digital initiatives were launched in
September 2018 and will now be implemented
within the next six to twelve months. The topics
covered range from optimization measures
in production and logistics, big data, energy
management and acceleration of administrative
processes to digital work time management.
“Digitalization of sales and trading via blockchain” at heinzelsales is just one example of
a pilot project that was successfully tested in
December 2018 in everyday operations. The
objective was to digitally create waybills and

use the blockchain technology to transfer them
to customers. The added value for customers,
thanks to time savings and the highest security
standards in the transmission, is significant.

OPTIMISTIC OUTLOOK,
FOCUS ON ORGANIC
GROWTH
All these activities and successes show: We are well
on track in terms of implementing our growth strategy.
We make substantial investments in the expansion and
efficiency improvements of our mills, while at the same
time extending our network and our portfolio in the
Trading Business. We continuously work on improving
everything we do with the aim to increase our earnings
power. In line with our strategy, which in addition to
the organic development of our existing activities also
provides for growth through acquisitions, we constantly
review options to expand by purchasing companies.
We also considered a few options in the past year.
However, it turned out that the asking prices for companies are currently beyond what we envisage – apart from
the fact that the strategic fit was simply missing in some
cases. That is why we will concentrate on organic growth
for the time being. We may even bring forward one or
the other investment project in this area. At any rate, the
2018 results form a good basis to do so. Thus, we look
to the future with optimism and are highly motivated in
approaching the three-billion-euro target.

GROUP
MANAGEMENT
REPORT
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HEINZEL GROUP

GENERAL ECONOMIC SITUATION
The global economy grew by 3.7% in 2018
according to the IMF, driven primarily by growth
in the USA (+2.9%) and in Asia. The euro
area, which recorded a year-on-year increase
by 1.8%, started the year with great optimism,
but leveled out at the lowest growth rate in four
years by the fourth quarter. Germany already
disappointed with a decline in the third quarter of 2018, driven by low industrial output in
connection with the new exhaust emission test
procedure for the automotive industry. Italy’s
high interest burden, domestic policy problems
in France and the upcoming Brexit led to further
uncertainty. In contrast, unemployment in the
EU saw a positive development and, at 6.6%,
reached the lowest level since the year 2000.
In the USA, the phase of base rate increases
has ended after three years for the time being.
Given the uncertain economic prospects, the
Fed decided to pause their campaign to raise
interest rates. In view of the uncertainties in

Europe, the US dollar strengthened continuously against the euro in the course of 2018 and
closed at 1.1450 as of December 31.
Economic growth in China slowed down in 2018
compared with 2017, mainly due to the trade
conflict with the USA. The high debt levels of
companies and the general change in the sentiment in China, which is reflected in growing
consumer caution and lower investments by
private companies, had an additional dampening impact.

3.7

GDP GROWTH
2018 WORLDWIDE

1.8

GDP GROWTH
2018 EURO AREA

6.6

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE
2018 EURO AREA
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SECTOR DEVELOPMENT

The product portfolio of Heinzel Group’s trading and production companies ranges from
pulp and a diversity of paper types to packaging. These products are subject to differing
influencing factors, which in the past year
developed as follows:
PULP
2018 was historically one of the best years for the global
pulp industry, for both long-fiber and short-fiber pulp.
In Europe the price for the long-fiber lead quality NBSK
reached USD 1,230 (starting from USD 1,000 at the
beginning of the year), while that of the short-fiber lead
quality BEKP rose to USD 1,050 (starting from USD 980
at the beginning of the year). In North America, prices
climbed as high as USD 1,435 for NBSK and USD 1,250
for eucalypt pulp. In China, prices peaked at USD 920
for NBSK and at USD 820 for BEKP. Similar values (on a
net basis) were reached in the spot markets.

In the course of the second half of the year, China’s economic performance started to slow down, not least due to
the trade conflict with the Trump administration. In line
with this development, demand for paper products (with
the exception of hygiene paper) dropped significantly. As
a result, the demand for pulp also collapsed, leading to

a massive slump in pulp prices within a very short time.
The decline currently amounts to roughly USD 240 for
NBSK and USD 200 for BEKP. In Europe, pulp prices
started to decrease from the end of November onwards
and amounted to USD 1,170 for NBSK and to USD
1,000 for BEKP in early January 2019.

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND

QUARTERLY PULP PRICE TREND
CIF-PRICE BEKP (USD/T)

CIF-PRICE NBSK (USD/T)

FX-RATE (EUR/USD)
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PAPER
As far as the development of the paper market
is concerned, the review below is limited to the
graphic and packaging paper segments, which
are of relevance to Heinzel Group.
The capacity reduction resulting from the closure
of machines in the past years as well as the
increased demand for various types of publication paper (e.g. SC and coated paper) by China
provided for a much friendlier market in 2018.
European SC producers reported excellent capacity utilization throughout the year. In addition,
two price increases were implemented. On the
customer side, the trend of steadily declining demand for gravure publication paper continued,
while demand for offset paper kept increasing.
PACKAGING
The general trend away from plastic to paper
packaging continued in the past year. 2018
consequently turned out to be a record year
for containerboard producers. This applied to
production and sales volumes as well as prof-

HEINZEL GROUP

itability since the favorable price development
of recycled paper continued. However, demand
flattened over the summer, entailing a steady
increase in inventories. Moreover, additional
capacity entered the market due to new or
converted paper machines. Given the stagnating
demand, this caused further pressure on prices,
which declined by roughly EUR 30/metric ton by
the end of the year. Record-breaking inventory
levels of 800,000 metric tons at the beginning of
2019 will continue to put prices under pressure
in the first quarter.
The market for bleached kraft paper also
saw an exceptionally good development with
above-inflation growth rates. In addition to the
favorable economic environment, growth rates
in Africa and Latin America were primarily driven by the intense plastic-paper debate as well
as the penalization or ban of plastic packaging.
The main drivers in Asia, the region recording
the strongest increase in demand, are the
development of income and the associated
change in consumer behavior regarding food
and hygiene articles.
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2018 GROUP DEVELOPMENT

12.2

6.9

ROE

%

22.2

9.4

Equity ratio

%

53.6

48.7

Gearing ratio

%

11.4

14.0

ROACE

%

20.2

9.1

In the Trading Business, high in-house production compensated for the scarce availability of
products from third suppliers, which cut the export volume for foreign markets due to the strong
demand in their domestic markets. Overall,
3,834,766 metric tons were sold.

87% GROWTH – NEW
PRODUCTS
8% REPLACEMENT,
PRODUCTIVITY,
ENVIRONMENT

Driven by strong profitability, the group’s operating cash flow increased by EUR 52 million over
the previous year to EUR 160.4 million. The
increase in working capital by EUR 46.2 million
was primarily attributable to the trading business.

5% R&D, IT, OTHER

CASH FLOW BRIDGE
(EUR MILLION)

236.8
300

In 2018, Heinzel Group made significant investments in existing assets and organic growth. The
chart CAPEX SPLIT shows a breakdown of the
total investment volume of EUR 127.3 million
(2017: EUR 107 million).
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The group’s tax ratio amounted to 22.7% in 2018
(2017: 21.0%). On balance, net income for the
reporting year totaled EUR 145.0 million.

The acquisitions made in 2018, including the
takeover of minority interests especially in the
Trading Business in the amount of EUR 11.9
million, the group’s investments of EUR 127.3
million and the dividend payout of EUR 12.7
million were financed from cash flow and new
loans. Despite the growth steps taken in 2018,
Heinzel Group’s net debt was maintained at the
level of the previous year and amounted to
EUR 81.8 million at the balance sheet date
(2017: EUR 82.4 million); the ratio of net debt
to EBITDA was 0.3 at the end of 2018 (2017:
0.7). The equity ratio increased from 48.7% to
53.6% at the end of 2018.
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EBITDA margin

CAPEX SPLIT

The operating result (EBIT) amounted to
EUR 194.8 million in 2018, up EUR 121.2 million on the prior-year value of EUR 73.6 million, which had, however, included a negative
result of Laakirchen Papier AG amounting to
EUR –8.0 million due to a downtime related to
the conversion adaptation.
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Heinzel Group recorded the best result in its
history in 2018. In addition to the positive market
price development, it was above all the good output in nearly all mills that caused net revenues
to increase from EUR 1.8 billion to roughly EUR
2.1 billion in 2018. It was the first time the Group
surpassed the EUR 2.0 billion mark. As the startup curve of the PM10 in Laakirchen exceeded
expectations and production volume increased
at the mills in Pöls and Raubling, in-house
production rose from 1,313,009 metric tons to
1,557,409 metric tons.
2018
2017

1,426
SEGMENT SALES
IN M EUR

42.1

SEGMENT EBITDA
IN M EUR
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The activities of the Trading Business consist
of paper wholesaling (Europapier), whose
portfolio has been diversified towards hygiene
and visual communication in the past years
and, most recently, towards industrial packaging with the acquisition of Moderne Verpackung, agency transactions with pulp and paper
(heinzelsales), and recycled paper trading
(Bunzl & Biach). On the one hand, Heinzel
Group markets the products from its own pulp
and paper mills and, on the other hand, supports third suppliers as an important partner
with comprehensive knowledge of the market.

Recycled paper trading primarily serves the
supply of the group’s own paper mills in
Laakirchen and Raubling with raw materials.
Sales revenues from the Trading Business rose
to EUR 1,426.1 million in 2018 (2017:
EUR 1,338.6 million). In addition to the positive market price development, this increase
was primarily attributable to higher production
volumes of long-fiber pulp and packaging paper. EBITDA of the Trading Business increased
from EUR 35.5 million in 2017 to EUR 42.1
million in the 2018 financial year.
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WILFRIED HEINZEL AG

6

SALES
REVENUES

Wilfried Heinzel AG and its foreign subsidiaries (heinzelsales) increased sales
volume from 2,362,778 metric tons to
2,458,013 metric tons in 2018 despite
a reduction of quantities traded by third
suppliers. This was primarily due to the
strong production of paper and pulp in
the group’s own mills. As a result, the
share of heinzelsales in the European
business was raised to 53%. Higher
volume and good market prices led to an
increase in sales revenues of heinzelsales
by more than EUR 41 million to
EUR 708.3 million. On this basis, EBITDA,
at EUR 18.7 million, was also maintained
at the record level of the previous year.

Marked by high market prices and the
decline in demand at the end of the year,
the working capital of heinzelsales also
increased. Consequently, operating cash
flow, at EUR –15.3 million, was clearly
negative.
In April 2018, heinzelsales acquired
the trading company Firgos, Malaysia,
to strengthen its global presence. This
company will serve as the hub for trading
activities in the Asia-Pacific region in the
future.

WILFRIED HEINZEL AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
708.3

2017
667.0

CHANGE
+41.3

EBIT

EUR m

16.6

16.0

+0.6

EBITDA

EUR m

18.7

18.6

+0.1

Operating cash flow

EUR m

–15.3

18.4

–33.7

CAPEX

EUR m

0.9

0.2

+0.7

%

22.7

26.1

–3.4 PP

FTE

133

114

+19

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues
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EUROPAPIER INTERNATIONAL AG

38

EBITDA

Europapier Group maintained its diversification strategy during the past financial
year with the full takeover of Moderne
Verpackung (Carl Bernh. Hoffmann
GmbH), Jeging, Austria. The company is
one of the leading suppliers of customized packaging solutions for industrial
and commercial customers and will serve
as a competence center for packaging
material trading within Europapier Group.
In addition to its core paper wholesaling

business, Europapier Group intensified
activities in the areas of visual communication technology and hygiene in 2018.
Europapier Group increased its sales
revenues to EUR 564.7 million in 2018,
which was mainly attributable to the
above-mentioned diversification and
expansion of its portfolio. On this basis,
EBITDA also reached a new record level
of EUR 16.1 million.

EUROPAPIER
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
564.7

2017
541.6

CHANGE
+23.1

EBIT

EUR m

12.6

9.1

+3.5

EBITDA

EUR m

16.1

11.7

+4.4

Operating cash flow

EUR m

11.2

7.1

4.1

CAPEX

EUR m

2.3

2.7

–0.4

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues

%

7.9

5.8

+2.1 PP

FTE

1,052

1,014

+38
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BUNZL&BIACH GMBH

40

VOLUME

Bunzl & Biach and its subsidiaries were
able to reliably meet the growing recycled
paper requirements of the Laakirchen
and Raubling mills also in 2018. Overall,
Heinzel Group’s specialist for recycled
paper increased its sales volume from 0.94
million metric tons in 2017 to 1.33 million
metric tons in 2018, which corresponds to
an increase by more than 40%. The companies’ sales revenues rose to EUR 169.4
million despite a decline in the price of

recycled paper, and EBITDA was up from
EUR 5.2 million to EUR 7.4 million.
In 2018, Bunzl & Biach acquired the
majority of the shares of Prague-based
M-Cyklus s.r.o. in order to ensure the
continued supply with high-quality recycled
paper in the future. In addition, the remaining shares in Austrian Recycling s.r.o. were
fully taken over.

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
169.4

2017
145.8

CHANGE
+23.6

EBIT

EUR m

5.7

3.6

+2.1

EBITDA

EUR m

7.4

5.2

+2.2

Operating cash flow

EUR m

5.1

0.3

+4.8

CAPEX

EUR m

2.3

1.0

+1.3

%

21.2

17.0

+4.2 PP

FTE

188

176

+12

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues

823
SEGMENT SALES
IN M EUR

212

SEGMENT EBITDA
IN M EUR
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Heinzel Group’s Industrial Business, which
comprises the four subsidiaries Zellstoff Pöls AG,
AS Estonian Cell, Laakirchen Papier AG and
Raubling Papier GmbH, pursues a strategy of
product diversification. The pulp mills produce
both short-fiber and long-fiber pulp. In addition
to graphic paper, the paper machines now
predominantly manufacture white and brown
packaging paper.
All Heinzel Group mills, with the exception of
Estonian Cell, where a machine failure caused
a twelve-day production stop at the beginning
of the year, achieved new production records

in 2018. Overall, production volume was raised
from 1,370,214 metric tons to 1,557,409
metric tons. However, it must be taken into
account that the PM10 was out of operation
for three months in 2017 due to its conversion.
The increase in sales revenues of the Industrial
Business from EUR 634.7 million in 2017 to
EUR 823.4 million in 2018 was also driven by
the positive market price situation for paper
and pulp. Higher production volumes, good
market prices and the continued low cost of
recycled paper also led to record EBITDA of
EUR 212.2 million in the Industrial Business.

38
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ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG

75

EBITDA

After the inclusion of an expansion
investment to increase the pulp capacity
in 2017, Zellstoff Pöls produced 382,667
metric tons of market pulp in 2018,
roughly 34,000 metric tons more than in
the previous year. The production of kraft
paper was also increased by more than
4,000 metric tons to 90,486 metric tons.
The positive market price development
for paper and pulp as well as the high
production volume provided the basis for
sales revenues growth from EUR 260.8
million to EUR 324.0 million. Based on
this development and despite slight increases in the prices of wood and chemicals, EBITDA was up 75% and amounted

to EUR 99.1 million. Operating cash flow
consequently also reached a record level
of EUR 72.7 million.
Since the beginning of the year 2018,
there has been intensive work on the
construction of the PM3 in Pöls, which
will increase the site’s production capacity for kraft paper to 200,000 metric tons
from June 2019 onwards. EUR 62.2 million of the budgeted investment volume,
which totals more than EUR 130 million,
were already incurred during the reporting year. Overall, Heinzel Group invested
EUR 77.3 million in Pöls in 2018.

ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
324.0

2017
260.8

CHANGE
+63.2

EBIT

EUR m

77.1

36.9

+40.2

EBITDA

EUR m

99.1

56.7

+42.4

Operating cash flow

EUR m

72.7

43.0

+29.7

CAPEX

EUR m

77.3

27.1

+50.2

%

20.0

11.3

+8.7 PP

FTE

446

409

+37

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues
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LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG

42

SALES
REVENUES

Thanks to the start-up curve of the
PM10, which exceeded expectations, and
stable SC paper production, Laakirchen
Papier accomplished a new production
record of 690,569 metric tons in 2018.
The positive volume development, coupled with rising sales prices for both SC
paper and containerboard, led to sales
revenues of EUR 301.4 million. At the
same time, the persisting low price of recycled paper resulting from the restrictive
import policy of the Chinese government
continued to support the profitability of
the mill. Consequently, EBITDA recorded

a massive increase from EUR 7.3 million
to EUR 62.5 million. However, the comparative figure of 2017 had included the
effect of the conversion-related threemonth downtime of the PM10.
Although the start-up of the PM10
caused an increase in working capital
at the beginning of 2018, Laakirchen
Papier generated operating cash flow of
EUR 53.3 million. The investments of
roughly EUR 30 million made in 2018
were to a significant extent related to the
completion of the PM10.

LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
301.4

2017
211.7

+/–
+89.7

EBIT

EUR m

43.6

–8.0

+51.6

EBITDA

EUR m

62.5

7.3

+55.2

Operating cash flow

EUR m

53.3

15.2

+38.1

CAPEX

EUR m

29.9

64.4

–34.5

%

22.8

–5.6

+28.4 PP

FTE

426

461

–35

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues
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AS ESTONIAN CELL

39

EBIT

With a production volume of 164,956
metric tons of BCTMP in 2018, the
production level of the Estonian pulp
mill was roughly 4% lower than in 2017.
This was caused by an engine failure
in January, which led to a downtime
of twelve days and, consequently, to
a production loss of more than 6,000
metric tons. Nevertheless, Estonian Cell
raised its sales revenues from EUR 71.1
million to EUR 80.3 million thanks to
the substantial increase in pulp prices
during the reporting period.

weather, Estonian Cell’s EBITDA also
rose from EUR 19.8 million to EUR 22.1
million in 2018. Likewise, working capital recorded an increase, which results
primarily from higher sales revenues and
higher stock levels of wood. Operating
cash flow consequently dropped from
EUR 20.2 million in 2017 to EUR 16.8
million.
In addition to the construction of an
aerobic wastewater treatment plant, the
investment volume of EUR 10.7 million
in 2018 is primarily related to efficiency
measures and preparation measures for
increasing the mill’s capacity to 185,000
metric tons per year.

Despite the downtime, which was in part
covered by insurance, and a massive
increase in the cost of wood due to
AS ESTONIAN CELL
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
80.3

2017
71.1

CHANGE
+9.2

EBIT

EUR m

15.4

11.1

+4.3

EBITDA

EUR m

22.1

19.8

+2.3

Operating cash flow

EUR m

16.8

20.2

–3.4

CAPEX

EUR m

10.7

1.6

+9.1

%

25.9

19.7

+6.2 PP

FTE

88

86

+2

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues
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RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH

64

CAPEX

Raubling Papier GmbH also includes the
subsidiary Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH. With an
increase in output from roughly 11,500
metric tons to roughly 229,000 metric
tons of containerboard, Raubling Papier
ended the 2018 financial year with a new
production record. In addition, the share
of Kraft Top Liner continued to rise from
110,000 metric tons in 2017 to 135,000
metric tons in the reporting period. The
favorable product mix and the positive

market price development led to an increase in sales revenues by roughly 22%
to EUR 117.7 million. As the high level of
production efficiency and low prices for
recycled paper more than offset the soaring pulp prices, the company’s EBITDA
rose from EUR 7.7 million to EUR 28.4
million, the highest level in the company’s
history to date. Operating cash flow
consequently also rose from roughly
EUR 20 million to EUR 21.3 million.

RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH
Sales revenues1

EUR m

2018
117.7

2017
96.5

CHANGE
+21.2

EBIT

EUR m

26.6

6.0

+20.6

EBITDA

EUR m

28.4

7.7

+20.7

Operating cash flow

EUR m

21.3

1.3

+20.0

CAPEX

EUR m

3.6

2.2

+1.4

%

98.9

26.0

+72.9 PP

FTE

153

143

+10

ROACE
Employees (average)
1

Includes intercompany sales revenues
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Heinzel Group’s research and development activities can be divided into
three main categories: the development of customer-specific solutions,
optimizing the use of resources and
basic research.
CUSTOMER FOCUS
Customers are at the center of the first main
development area. The primary objective of this
area is to provide customized, individual and
innovative solutions even for complex tasks.
To this end, Heinzel Group above all relies on
close, collaborative teamwork with its customers. This way, new benchmarks were achieved
for important pulp properties in 2018, which
represent significant added value for the customers. Substantial quality improvements were
accomplished, for example, in terms of the
strength and purity of pulp. In the area

of graphic paper, the printability of GraphoSet
and GraphoVerde was optimized through gloss
and formation enhancements. In addition, the
product portfolios of GraphoMotion (additional
higher substance of 47.4 gsm) and GraphoLibre
(improvement of gravure printability) were
expanded. Good progress was also made with
the expansion of the range of grades produced on the PM10 in 2018. For the first time,
grades with low substance (Starboard Wave
with 85 gsm, Starboard Liner03 with 90 gsm)
were produced, and received consistently
positive feedback from customers. Moreover,
the strength of high-performance fluting was
further increased based on the use of different
chemical additives.
RESOURCE EFFICIENCY
The goal of development activities in this area is
to strengthen the competitiveness of pulp and
paper production on a sustained basis. Further

developments of secondary bleaching processes
reduced the use of bleaching chemicals in the
reporting period while at the same time improving pulp quality. In addition, energy consumption in Pöls was lowered as a result of optimizing
the heat recovery systems. A further reduction
in the use of raw materials and chemicals was
also a focus for both paper machines in Laakirchen in the past year.
BASIC RESEARCH
Heinzel Group’s basic research, which is predominantly carried out at Zellstoff Pöls AG,
focuses on increasing the added value of
by-products. Within the framework of multiyear collaborations, research work focuses on
the separation and concentration of fines and
the development of their use in areas beyond
standard paper applications. Another focus of
the group’s future-oriented research projects
is the material use of the valuable components

contained in the cooking liquor. Their utilization
for different applications was a central topic
of the research activities in 2018. Laakirchen
Papier was involved in the projects Eco-Agents
and Stärke-Plus of the Austrian Association of
Pulp and Paper Chemists (ÖZEPA), which deal
with complexing agents and starch treatment,
respectively.
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HEINZEL GROUP

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The existence, success and future
prospects of Heinzel Group are directly
linked to the well-being of the people
working for it, the health of the people
living near the Group’s locations and
to the environment in which it operates. Therefore, sustainability is deeply rooted in Heinzel Group’s corporate
culture.
PRODUCTION
The production sites of Heinzel Group are
involved in permanent efforts to minimize effects
on the environment. The main priorities include
strict compliance with all legal regulations with
respect to air and water protection, the avoid-

ance of unpleasant odors and noise pollution
and the ongoing reduction of residues which
cannot be processed further.
RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY
The consumption of raw materials, water, chemicals and energy is continuously reduced by optimizing production processes. The objective is to
achieve the greatest possible value added based
on the sustainable use of all resources. 99%
of the valuable raw material recycled paper,
for example, can be utilized without residue by
using a fluidized bed boiler. In addition, steam
and electricity are produced in the combined
heat and power plants at the mills. As a result,
the mills not only obtain 100% of their energy
requirements from in-house production, but also
feed surplus electricity and heat into the public

GREEN ENERGY AS
A BY-PRODUCT

76
57
115

grid, thus making a significant contribution to
the reduction of CO2.
ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

GWh

BIOGAS

GWh

ELECTRICITY

GWh

DISTRICT HEATING

The quality control system employed in Heinzel
Group’s mills is certified according to ISO 9001;
the environmental management system meets
the requirements of the ISO 14001 standard.
In addition, all production facilities and trading
houses are certified in accordance with FSC®
(Forest Stewardship Council) and PEFC®
(Programme for the Endorsement of Forest
Certification Schemes) criteria.
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EMPLOYEES ARE THE KEY TO
SUCCESS
“Train people well enough so they can leave,
treat them well enough so they don’t want
to,” is a quote from British entrepreneur Richard Branson – a view that Heinzel Group also
shares. RESPECT, RESPONSIBILITY and EXCELLENCE are the core values underpinning
this statement and serving as a guideline for
the work climate at all locations.

hierarchies. The group strives to provide an interesting
environment for its employees with attractive offers, which
may vary depending on the location, including flexible
working hours, home office, ergonomic workplaces,
workplace health promotion with the provision of occupational healthcare, the “One apple a day” initiative and
a generally good work-life balance. A good corporate culture, characterized by open and honest communication,
individual further training and development planning, the
opportunity to participate in group-wide programs and the
possibility to develop throughout the group round off the
package.

THE HEINZEL HUMAN RESOURCES MOTTO
INVESTMENT IN THE FUTURE
We are looking for new ways to find personalities and
win them over. We offer them opportunities for personal
growth and development and encourage them to take on
responsibility. We associate Heinzel Group with passion.
FINDING AND RETAINING EMPLOYEES
While it is getting increasingly difficult to find qualified
specialists, they also tend to stay with a company for a
shorter time. Against this background, Heinzel Group
offers its employees individual responsibility in their work
in an internationally operating family-run group with flat

Under the motto “Start your career with an apprenticeship”, Heinzel Group offers training in 14 different
apprenticeships. In addition to the option of completing
an apprenticeship in the commercial disciplines with a
school leaving exam (“Matura”), additional modules for
sustained personal development are integrated into the
training curricula at some locations. Moreover, apprentice
exchange programs are in place at the production sites allowing apprentices to gain experience in other companies.
Field trips for apprentices as well as sport and culture days
contribute to interaction across departments and locations.

Even after completing their apprenticeship, a comprehensive training offer is open to apprentices – because
excellence can only be achieved through extensive training
and continuous further education.
Heinzel Group also offers training or retraining opportunities to career changers, for example people who previously
worked in nursing or as bricklayers or painters. It is especially these people who show exceptional commitment,
interest and motivation – a recipe for lasting success for
the group’s locations.
Trainee programs in Heinzel Group are another way of
providing for the future: Since 2004, 55 trainees from
18 countries have completed the group’s trainee program,
which covers multiple locations. In addition to a focus on
personal development, the program primarily serves to
gain work experience in different areas of the group and to
prepare for future tasks. Trainees also acquire first leadership competences as part of the program.
FEMALE POWER IN PRODUCTION
The past has shown that people are often not judged
based on their performance, but rather based on their
gender. It still cannot be taken for granted that women
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work in non-traditional jobs – in other words, jobs
predominantly carried out by men. Heinzel Group
attaches all the more importance to promoting
talents, regardless of their gender. The group is
proud to point out that to date five women work
in paper production/paper technology, an area
purely dominated by men so far, with two of these
women still in training.
DIFFERENT AND YET THE SAME
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continuously works on establishing a zero-accident culture based on regular specialist training
courses for employees, intensive efforts to create
awareness, audits and ongoing organizational
improvements.

72% MEN
28% WOMEN
Employees

One of Heinzel Group’s key strengths is its great
variety of individual personalities of all age groups
and different nationalities. The group’s employees
come from 38 countries and speak 37 languages.
Mutual respect and the willingness to understand
one another despite cultural differences are
fundamental requirements for good cooperation
across countries. Thanks to this mindset, Heinzel
Group successfully achieves excellence – despite,
or even because of, people’s different origin and
background.

Work safety and the protection of workers also
enjoy top priority at Heinzel Group. The group

FTE

2,493

2,409

thereof women

FTE

691.4

657

FTE

84

69

Apprentices

FTE

62

60

FTE

23

11

Years

11.9

12.4

%

13.18

10.4

Average period of service
Fluctuation (leavers)

20% < 30 YEARS
52% 30–50 YEARS
28% > 50 YEARS

20171

Part-time employees
thereof women

HEALTH MANAGEMENT AND WORK SAFETY

20181

Sales revenues per employee

EUR k

828

754

EBIT per employee

EUR k

78.1

30.7

Value added per employee

EUR k

207

151

Personnel costs per employee

EUR k

58.3

55.4

Work accidents

Total

22

40

Days lost

Total

50

341

EUR k

803

792

EUR

322

328

Total training expenditure
Training expenditure per employee
1

All employee indicators are based on annual averages of full time equivalents.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
As a globally operating company with production sites in Europe, Heinzel Group is exposed
to a variety of general and industry-specific
risks in its business activities.
All Heinzel Group companies use a risk matrix for the
identification and assessment of risks, which is updated
annually and presented to the Audit Committee. The
companies’ different fields of activity and the resulting
variety of risk factors provide for a risk spread at the
group level. In addition, the increased vertical integration
reduces susceptibility to external influences. The group’s
risk policy is characterized by a conservative approach.
Great importance is attached to risk avoidance and
reduction, which are achieved, as far as economically
justifiable, through appropriate control measures and
supplemented by the group’s insurance program.
A long-term risk that applies to the entire group is a
decline in demand for graphic paper. This risk has been
mitigated through the conversion of the PM10 in Laakirchen to produce packaging paper. At the same time,
the PM11 was adjusted to the latest customer requirements in the graphic segment.

Market risks may result, in particular, from general economic developments as well as the political and regulatory frameworks in the respective countries. The pulp and
paper markets are characterized by intense competition.
A major uncontrollable risk is posed by price fluctuations
for the products sold, which are also subject to exchange
rate volatility. Solid liquidity can adequately cushion such
risks.
On the procurement side, Heinzel Group’s production
units depend on the supply with raw materials, predominantly wood, fiber materials such as recycled paper
and groundwood, as well as energy and chemicals. The
group proactively counters the availability risk through
professional purchasing organizations, which continuously monitor the market and look for new potential suppliers. In order to optimize costs, Heinzel Group operates
as a single entity in the market for certain purchasing
processes. In the Trading Business, the potential loss
of a major supplier represents a high risk. Therefore,
constant efforts are undertaken to reduce this risk based
on supplier spread.
At Heinzel Group’s industrial locations, there is a risk
of production plant failure, which is accounted for by a
multi-faceted insurance program that covers the entire

group. The production facilities and processes are state
of the art and are subject to systematic further development. In addition, annual risk audits are conducted
together with the group’s insurance company. Potential
risks are identified and appropriate countermeasures are
taken as part of this audit.
In international trade, the political risk of some countries
and, above all, the credit risk of business partners are
monitored continuously and controlled through credit insurance, internal credit limits and standardized approval
processes.
In view of the increase in cyber-crime, IT security was
added to the risk matrix in recent years as an additional
type of operational risk. In addition to constant improvements in the protection of information and operation
technology, Heinzel Group primarily focused on addressing the behavior of employees and raising their awareness regarding information security in 2018.
Financial risks comprise currency and liquidity risks. In
order to reduce the latter to a minimum, Heinzel Group
works with banks possessing good credit ratings in both
the investment and loan areas, and ensures sufficient
availability of credit lines. Currency and interest risks are
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continually monitored and either limited or reduced through appropriate hedging measures.
In this regard the group focuses primarily on
natural risk compensation through the creation
of a balance between receivables and payables
on the level of the individual subsidiaries, and
the use of forward exchange transactions and
exchange rate swap transactions. Derivative
financial instruments are neither employed
for trading nor for speculative purposes. More
detailed information on these matters is provided in the Notes. The default risk for customer
receivables is maintained low based on continuous credit assessments and customer credit
insurance for all customers.
At present, no immediate risks are recognizable
that could threaten the continued existence of
Heinzel Group.
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Bottom-up identification of
risks in the specialist departments at all companies

Annual discussion in the
Audit Committee/
Supervisory Board

Discussion, evaluation and
definition of countermeasures
by the management of each
company
RISK
MANAGEMENT
PROCESS

Consolidation at
group level
Definition of further joint
safeguards at holding level

54

HEINZEL GROUP

OUTLOOK
The International Monetary Fund expects global GDP
growth of 3.5% in 2019 compared with 3.7% in 2018,
with a decline forecast for the USA and the euro area
by 0.4 (USA) and 0.2 (euro area) percentage points.
While the subdued development in the USA is attributed
to a lack of fiscal incentives, the sentiment in Europe is
deteriorating due to domestic policy problems (France),
export uncertainties caused by political events (Turkey),
and US policies. Slowing growth by 0.4 percentage
points is also forecast for China due to the trade conflict
with the USA. In contrast, the experts expect further
strong growth in Asia, above all in India.
Due to high inventory levels at the end of 2018, Heinzel
Group expects a slight decline in demand in the first
quarter of 2019, which should, however, recover in the
course of the year. The Chinese government’s adherence to its restrictive import policy for recycled paper
and the ongoing trend towards paper packaging overall
indicate a further increase in demand. In the area of
graphic paper, the capacity reductions of the recent
years should compensate for the continuously contracting market.

With regard to the prices for the most important input
factors, recycled paper and wood, Heinzel Group does
not expect any major increases. The prices for energy
and chemicals already picked up in 2018.
Heinzel Group will continue its organic growth in 2019.
The PM3 in Pöls will have started operations by mid2019 and the first steps in the capacity expansion at
Estonian Cell will be finalized. Laakirchen Papier will
continue to work on optimizing the PM10 with regard to
substance, and on the capacity expansion of the PM11.
At the Raubling mill, the entire storage area for recycled
paper will be roofed in 2019, with an investment totaling
EUR 2.4 million.
In addition to the integration of Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific
(formerly Firgos), heinzelsales will focus on the overseas
sales of the additional Starkraft quantities produced
by the new PM3 as well as pulp from third suppliers.
Bunzl & Biach will concentrate on meeting the growing
demand for recycled paper by the Laakirchen and Raubling mills and may also carry out smaller acquisitions in
order to increase supply security. Europapier will further

develop the diversification areas hygiene, visual communication and industrial packaging. The aim is to continue
the robust growth, above all in the packaging segment.
All of these measures are part of the strategy to profitably develop Heinzel Group further towards the sales
revenues target of EUR 3 billion in the medium term.

Vorchdorf, March 11, 2019
The Executive Management
Kurt Maier m.p.

Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner m.p.

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
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HEINZEL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018
IFRS

IN EUR K
ASSETS

NOTE

2018

2017

Intangible assets

1

43,270

30,281

Tangible assets

2

577,416

518,664

Shares in associated companies

3

3,084

2,671

Shares in other companies

3

1,550

1,105

Other financial assets

4

15,609

17,637

Deferred tax assets

24

Non-current assets

3,200

4,183

644,130

574,541

Inventories

5

178,447

148,803

Trade and other receivables

6

388,274

340,716

Other financial assets

7

38,376

43,020

Cash and cash equivalents

8

85,248

101,374

Current assets

690,346

633,913

TOTAL ASSETS

1,334,476

1,208,454
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IN EUR K

NOTE

2018

2017

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Equity attributable to parent company shareholders
Share capital

3,635

3,635

Capital reserves

8,600

8,600

Other reserves

34,327

38,492

644,959

515,404

691,521

566,131

24,354

21,980

9

715,875

588,111

10

128,889

77,832

Pensions and other employee benefits

11

57,748

57,077

Deferred tax liabilities

24

4,848

4,813

Other liabilities

12

Retained earnings
Equity of non-controlling interests
Equity
Financial liabilities

Non-current provisions and liabilities
Financial liabilities

14

Tax liabilities

9,966
149,688

76,562

148,978

39,737

27,480*)

Trade accounts payable

15

241,340

240,093

Other provisions and liabilities

16

60,548

54,103*)

Current provisions and liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
*)

8,929
200,414

Restatement according to IAS 8

418,187

470,655

1,334,476

1,208,454
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR
IFRS

IN EUR K

NOTE

2018

2017

Sales revenues

17

2,064,798

1,816,484

Changes in inventories

18

5,618

–1,594

Own work capitalized

18

1,372

2,934

Other operating income

19

7,474

12,775

Cost of material and services

20

–1,607,326

–1,506,394

Personnel expenses

21

–145,417

–133,524

Other operating expenses

22

–74,832

–64,665

–56,875

–52,387

194,812

73,629

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets

1, 2

Operating result (EBIT)
Interest income

1,077

1,256

Financing costs

–5,814

–5,549

Dividend income
Income/expenses from the fair value recognition of derivatives

15

1

–817

568

Other financial income/expenses

23

–1,717

–273

Financial result

23

–7,256

–3,997

187,556

69,633

–42,541

–14,648

145,016

54,984

140,313

51,021

4,703

3,964

Profit before tax (EBT)
Income taxes
Profit (net income)

24

Attributable to:
Parent company shareholders
Non-controlling shareholders
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2018

IN EUR K
Profit (net income)

IFRS

2018
145,016

2017
54,984

–381

362

Items of other comprehensive income which, if necessary, may
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Cash flow hedge accounting
Deferred taxes
Currency translation

95

–90

–1,563

–1,194

–1,849

–922

858

1,785

–2,637

3,390

859

–806

Items of other comprehensive income which will not
be subsequently recycled to profit and loss
Change in the fair value of financial investments in equity instruments recognized
at fair value through other comprehensive income
Revaluation of employee benefit obligations
Deferred taxes
Other income for the period, net
Total income for the period

–920

4,369

–2,769

3,447

142,247

58,431

137,622

54,442

4,625

3,989

Attributable to
Parent company shareholders
Non-controlling shareholders

60

HEINZEL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2018
IN EUR K

NOTE

IFRS

2018

2017

194,812

73,629

56,875

52,387

–46,195

10,100

Operating activities
Operating result
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in working capital
Changes in other receivables and liabilities

–3,273

–7,266

Changes in personnel provisions

–2,175

–6,521

Dividends received

15

1

–30,153

–11,966

–5,527

–5,185

1,168

1,140

–5,188

2,110

160,360

108,429

–9,745
6,672

–259
–13,131

–127,292

–106,624

560

0

–129,805

–120,014

–12,733

–12,881

–2,165

–8,456

–81,079

35,339

48,956

–3,299

Cash flow from financing activities

–47,022

10,703

Decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents

–16,467

–882

101,374

101,842

342

414

85,248

101,375

Income tax paid
Interest paid
Interest received
Cash neutral income and expenses
Cash flow from operating activities
Investment activities
Payments for company purchases, less acquired cash and
cash equivalents
Income from/investments in other financial assets
Investments in other intangible and tangible assets
Income from the sale of intangible assets and tangible assets
Cash flow from investments
Financing activities
Dividends paid
Payment for the purchase of non-controlling interests
Borrowing/repayment of current financial liabilities
Borrowing/repayment of non-current financial liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Currency gains/losses from cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year

8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
IN EUR K
Balance as of January 1, 2017

Share capital

Capital
reserves

Foreign
currency
translation

Hedging
reserves

Revaluation
of employee
benefit
obligations

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

IFRS

Equity
attributable
to parent
Equity of
company non-controlling
shareholders
interests

Total equity

3,635

8,600

–10,217

–885

–8,303

60,991

474,384

528,205

24,847

553,051

Result after taxes

0

0

0

0

0

0

51,021

51,021

3,964

54,984

Currency translation

0

0

–1,194

0

0

0

0

–1,194

0

–1,194

Hedge accounting
Change in fair value of
financial investments1)
Actuarial gains/losses
Other comprehensive income
in the period, net
Net result for the period

0

0

0

272

0

0

0

272

0

272

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2,559

1,785
0

0
0

1,785
2,559

0
25

1,785
2,584

0
0

0
0

–1,194
–1,194

272
272

2,559
2,559

1,785
1,785

0
51,021

3,422
54,443

25
3,989

3,447
58,431

Dividend payments
Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders
Other changes

0

0

0

0

0

0

–10,000

–10,000

–2,881

–12,881

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

–4,777
–1,739

0
0

–4,777
–1,739

–3,679
–296

–8,456
–2,035

Balance as of December 31, 2017

3,635

8,600

–11,411

–613

–5,744

56,260

515,404

566,131

21,980

588,111

Result after taxes

0

0

0

0

0

0

140,313

140,313

4,703

145,016

Currency translation

0

0

–1,563

0

0

0

0

–1,563

0

–1,563

Hedge accounting
Change in fair value of
financial investments1)
Actuarial gains/losses
Other comprehensive income
in the period, net
Net result for the period

0

0

0

–286

0

0

0

–286

0

–286

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
–1,700

858
0

0
0

858
–1,700

0
–78

858
–1,778

0
0

0
0

–1,563
–1,563

–286
–286

–1,700
–1,700

858
858

0
140,313

–2,690
137,622

–78
4,625

–2,769
142,247

Dividend payments
Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders
Other changes

0

0

0

0

0

0

–10,909

–10,909

–1,824

–12,733

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

–760
–715

0
151

–760
–564

–740
314

–1,500
–250

3,635

8,600

–12,974

–899

–7,443

55,643

644,959

691,521

24,354

715,875

Balance as of December 31, 2018

Other reserves
1)

Change in fair value of financial investments in equity instruments recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income
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NOTES

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018

A. GENERAL INFORMATION
For the 2018 financial year, Heinzel Holding GmbH has prepared consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the EU, and the interpretations of
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC, formerly Standing Interpretations Committee/
SIC). These consolidated financial statements meet the requirements for a consolidated financial statement with discharging effect pursuant to §245a of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). Heinzel Holding GmbH is headquartered
in Austria at Einsiedlinger Strasse 47, 4655 Vorchdorf. The main shareholder of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel
EMACS Beteiligungs AG, Vienna, which itself prepares exempting consolidated financial statements. Heinzel Holding
GmbH and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and trading of pulp and paper products and board worldwide. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements was completed subject to the premise of the continued
operation of the enterprise. The principle of materiality was applied to reporting and the summary of individual items
in the balance sheet, comprehensive income statement, cash flow statement, and the statement of changes in equity.
The consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, (Heinzel Group) are prepared in euros
(= the functional currency of the parent company) and unless otherwise stated, all the figures reported are in thousands of euros.
As in the previous reporting period of 2017, the reporting period for 2018 comprises a full financial year of twelve
months. However, Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH (formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.),
Jeging, and Rinner GmbH, Salzburg, were acquired with effect from 1 March 2018, Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn.
Bhd. (formerly Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.), Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, was acquired with effect from 1 April 2018
and M-Cyklus s.r.o., Prague, with effect from 1 August 2018. As a result of these acquisitions, the figures reported in
the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement are only comparable to those of the previous year to a
limited extent.
In addition, the prior-year values in the balance sheet were restated in accordance with IAS 8 in order to ensure comparability. Liabilities from tax allocations are now reported under income tax liabilities. In the previous year they were
shown under other liabilities.
The individual financial statements for 2018 are published in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION METHODS AND REPORTING
The following amendments or new versions of standards were employed for the first time in the 2018 financial year
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the following amendments to existing IAS, IFRS and
interpretations, as well as newly issued standards and interpretations were observed, where these were published in
the Official Gazette of the European Union by the time of the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
and came into force prior to this date:
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Standard

Content

IFRS 9

Financial Instruments

Effective as from
January 2018

IFRS 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

January 2018

IFRS 15

Clarification Regarding Revenue from Contracts with Customers

January 2018

IFRS 4

Application of IFRS 9 together with IFRS 4

January 2018

AIP 2014–2016
(IFRS 1, IAS 28)

Amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards” and IAS 28
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”

January 2018

IFRS 2

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

January 2018

IAS 40

Transfers of Investment Property

January 2018

IFRIC 22

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

January 2018

Where individually applicable, the listed standards have been employed in these financial statements. Both the
amendments to IFRS 9 and changes to IFRS 15 did not give rise to any material changes in the presentation of the
asset, financial and earnings positions.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” deals with the classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities. The full version of IFRS 9 was published in July 2014. This standard supersedes IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” with the exception of the option to retain hedge accounting under
IAS 39 (temporarily). In addition, the provisions of IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives” were integrated
in IFRS 9.
The first-time application of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in the accounting methods and adjustments of the amounts reported in the financial statements. In accordance with the transitional provisions in
IFRS 9.7.2.15 and IFRS 9.7.2.26, comparative figures were only restated with respect to certain aspects of hedge
accounting.
In the following, adjustments to the opening balance as of 1 January 2018 resulting from the initial application of
IFRS 9 are explained at the level of the balance sheet items concerned and structured according to the sections
of IFRS 9.
A) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the classification and measurement of financial assets, which reflects both the
business model within which financial assets are held and the characteristics of their cash flows.
IFRS 9 includes three important classification categories for financial assets:
»» Measured at amortized cost
»» Measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
»» Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
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Pursuant to IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts that are based on a financial asset that falls within the scope of application of the standard are never recognized separately. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument will be assessed overall in line
with its classification.
The new classification requirements do not have a material impact on the accounting of trade receivables, loans and bonds
and equity securities held as financial assets which are controlled at fair value.
The group holds shares in listed investment funds which serve to cover pension and other long-term employee benefit obligations. These are presented in the balance sheet under other non-current financial assets. In the past, they were classified as
afs financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, the group recognizes them at fair value through profit or
loss and shows all changes in the financial result.
In addition, the group holds non-consolidated shares in associated companies, which must be measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income according to IFRS 9 since they do not meet the SPPI criterion and are not held for trading.
B) IMPAIRMENT – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred losses” impairment model according to IAS 39 by a future-oriented “expected losses” model.
This requires considerable discretionary decisions with regard to the question as to the extent to which the expected credit
losses will be influenced by shifts in economic factors. This estimation is determined on the basis of weighted probabilities.
The new impairment model is applied to debt instruments, leasing receivables, trade receivables, contractual assets (as defined by IFRS 15) measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, and loan commitments
and financial guarantees not measured at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of equity securities held as
financial assets.
Pursuant to IFRS 9, impairments will be measured on the basis of one of the following principles:
»» 12-month expected loss: for financial instruments that have not been subject to a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a company must make a provision in the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated within the next
twelve months.
»» Lifetime expected loss: for financial instruments that have been subject to a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a company must make a provision in the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated during the expected
life of the financial instrument.
A company can determine that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not risen significantly when the asset demonstrates
a low credit risk on the balance sheet date. However, measurement according to the concept of lifetime expected loss must
always be applied to trade receivables and contractual assets without a material financing component. A company may also
apply this method to trade receivables and contractual assets with a material financing component.
A significant part of the group’s receivables (66%) is covered by credit insurance pursuant to internal regulations. Therefore,
the group’s receivable defaults and impairments have historically been very low. The same is also to be expected for existing receivables in the future. The group currently holds no receivables with financing components or leasing receivables.
Accounting pursuant to IFRS 9 does not result in any material effects.
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The group determines the expected credit losses based on default estimates with time frames of 30, 60 and 90 days.
The group’s management evaluated its business model as part of the implementation of IFRS 9 and is in the business model
“hold”. The SPPI test also showed that the receivables meet the SPPI criterion. For non-consolidated investments included at
equity, the SPPI test is not met.
The initial application of IFRS 9 does not result in any effects on retained earnings.
C) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL DEBTS
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements of IAS 39 for the classification of financial debts.
However, pursuant to IAS 39 all changes to the fair value of debts determined for measurement at fair value through profit
or loss are recognized in profit and loss, whereas pursuant to IFRS 9, these changes in fair value are basically reported as
follows:
»» The change in fair value that can be attributed to changes in the credit risk of the debt is recognized in other
comprehensive income.
»» The remaining change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss.
The group has not determined any financial debts measured at fair value through profit or loss and currently does not intend
to do so. The application of the requirements of IFRS 9 does not show any material effects regarding the classification of
financial debts as of 31 December 2018.
D) HEDGE ACCOUNTING
When first applying IFRS 9, the group has the right to choose to continue to apply the accounting regulations of IAS 39 for
hedging transactions instead of the requirements of IFRS 9. The group continues to apply IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 aims to show the effects of the company’s risk management activities. In the future, an existing risk management
strategy will represent a prerequisite for recognition as a hedging relationship.
The group uses forward exchange transactions for the hedging of fluctuations in the cash flows derived from shifts in the
exchange rates used for the taking of loans, receivables, sales and purchases.
The group measures hedging transactions at fair value. The market value of forward exchange transactions is recognized
directly through profit or loss and is not recorded as part of hedge accounting. In line with the hedge accounting rules, the
result from the measurement of interest swaps is recognized in a reserve.
The types of accounting for hedging transactions which the group currently determines meet the requirements of IFRS 9.
Based on a treasury policy, which is already applied throughout the entire Heinzel Group, a solid set of rules is also in place
with respect to risk management strategy and risk management goal.
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IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
The new standard for revenue recognition replaces IAS 18 and IAS 11, which govern the accounting requirements for
contracts regarding goods and services, and the accounting requirements for construction contracts, respectively.
IFRS 15 is based on the principle that revenue is recognized when the control of goods or services is transferred to a customer; the control concept therefore replaces the previous focus on the transfer of opportunities and risks.
A new five-step model must be applied to revenue recognition:
1. Identify the contracts with a customer
2. Identify the individual performance obligations in the contract
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price to the individual performance obligations
5. Recognize revenue when the individual performance obligations are satisfied
Significant changes compared with the previously applicable procedure:
»» Distinct goods or services must be identified as separate performance obligations; any discounts or rebates on the contract
price must be allocated to the individual performance obligations.
»» Sales revenues must be recognized earlier than before, if the consideration is variable (e.g. discounts, performance
bonuses, licensing fees, penalties, etc.) – minimum amounts must be recognized if it is highly probable that no significant
cancelation will be made.
»» The time of revenue recognition may change: Revenue previously recognized at a point in time can now be recognized
over time as the case may be and vice versa.
»» New specific rules exist, among other things, for licenses, warranties, non-refundable upfront fees and consignment
arrangements.
»» Several new disclosure requirements
The management analyzed the effects of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements and did not identify any
significant contracts which would lead to changed revenue recognition. The individual contracts are allocated to business
models (sale of pulp, paper, recycled paper trading, etc.) and the five-step model described above was applied. Different performance obligations such as the sale of pulp, paper, recycled paper, transportation, etc. were identified and analyzed to what
extent they represent separate performance obligations. The delivery of pulp, paper and recycled paper was identified as a
separate performance obligation. The analysis showed that the transport of goods is essentially not a separate performance
obligation, but rather is included in the obligation to deliver pulp, paper and recycled paper. Revenue is recognized when the
control of goods or services passes to a customer, for example also in the case of bill and hold agreements. Control passes
to the customer when the goods are delivered. The group’s transaction prices are based on the estimated consideration and
take into account any revenue deductions. In the case of volume-based discounts, a refund liability is formed. The group
intends to update the analysis annually in order to ensure proper revenue recognition.
The modified retrospective method was used for the initial application. There was no effect on retained earnings.
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Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”
The amendment made addresses the interaction of IFRS 9 and IFRS 4. Concerns were raised that problems may arise
if IFRS 9 is applied, but IFRS 17 (the standard intended to supersede IFRS 4) is not. This change is of no relevance to
the group.
AIP 2014-2016 (IFRS 1, IAS 28)
The Annual Improvements of the IFRS (cycle 2014-2016) published on 8 December 2016 include amendments to the following IFRS:
»» IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption International Financial Reporting Standards”
Based on this amendment, short-term exemptions related to the transitional provisions of IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IFRS 10 for
first-time adopters were deleted. These provisions were available to companies for past reporting periods and are no longer
applicable.
»» IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
Pursuant to IAS 28, venture capital organizations, investment funds, unit trusts or similar companies may elect to measure
their investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. It is explicitly
clarified that this election must be made separately for each associate or joint venture upon initial recognition.
The above-mentioned changes did not result in any material effects on the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.
Amendments to IFRS 2
The amendments address questions connected with the accounting for cash-settled share-based payments. The significant
change is that provisions related to determining the fair value of obligations resulting from share-based remuneration are now
included. There are no material effects on the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.
Amendments to IAS 40
The amendments serve to clarify the rules regarding transfers to, or from, investment properties. More specifically, the question is whether a property under construction or development that was previously classified as inventory can be transferred
to investment property when there was an evident change in use. There are no material effects on the group’s asset, financial
and earnings position.
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IFRIC 22
The interpretation clarifies which exchange rate must be used in the initial recognition of a transaction in the company’s functional currency that includes the receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. There are
no material effects on the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.
STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS, WHICH WERE NOT YET BINDING IN 2018 AND WERE
NOT EMPLOYED PREMATURELY
The following standards and interpretations were introduced or amended by the time of the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, but were not yet binding for the 2018 financial year. Early application is not foreseen.

Standard

Content

Effective as from

IFRS 16

Leases

January 2019

IFRIC 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

January 2019

IFRS 9

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

January 2019

IFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

January 2021
Not adopted and
applicable from

Standard

Content

IAS 28

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

January 2019

AIP 2015–2017

Amendments and Clarifications to Different IFRS

January 2019

IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

January 2019

Framework

Amendments to the References to the Framework in IFRS

January 2020

IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business

January 2020

IAS 1, IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Materiality

January 2020

IFRS 10, IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 10 und IAS 28

Postponed
indefinitely

IFRS 16 “Leases”
IFRS 16 “Leases” replaces IAS 17, IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-17. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases in financial reports. For the lessee the standard prescribes
a single accounting model. This requires the lessee to recognize all the assets and liabilities from lease agreements
in the balance sheet unless the lease has a term of twelve months or less or the underlying asset is of low value. This
simplification creates a right of choice. At the beginning of the lease, the lessee must recognize a lease liability (for
lease payments) and a right of use.
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For accounting purposes, the lessor must continue to classify its leases as operating or finance agreements. In this regard,
the accounting model contained in IFRS 16 does not differ materially from that of IAS 17.
In accordance with IFRS 16, multi-component contracts must be separated into lease components and non-lease components. The separation of on-balance sheet leasing components and off-balance sheet service components thus gains
additional significance for the group under IFRS 16. If several components meet the leasing definition, the accounting rules
of IFRS 16 must be applied to each separately identifiable component and must generally be presented separately from
non-leasing components.
However, the lessee may elect not to separate lease and non-lease components and to account for the entire contract in
accordance with IFRS 16. This option may be exercised uniformly by class of underlying assets.
In contrast, the separation of the individual contract components is mandatory for the lessor, i.e. the lessor may not elect not
to apply the separation since detailed knowledge of the individual components is presumed for the lessor in order to execute
appropriate (individual) pricing. The allocation of the consideration received to the contract components is to be made in
accordance with the provisions of revenue recognition in IFRS 15.73–15.90 (IFRS 16.17). Pursuant to IFRS 15 the allocation
of the transaction price to the separate leasing obligations is based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. To determine
the stand-alone selling price, the market price should be used. If a stand-alone price is not directly observable, an estimate
can be made.
IFRS 16 must be applied for periods starting on or after 1 January 2019. The group does not apply the standard early.
Transition to IFRS 16
The group applies the modified retrospective transitional method and does not state comparative values. The group will continue to apply IFRS 16 to all leases already identified as such under IAS 17.
Both the exemption for simplifications related to leases with a short term (twelve months or less) and that for underlying assets with a low value are applied. The group’s portfolio includes leases (as a lessee) of electronic devices (copiers, computers,
mobile telephones) which are to be considered low value goods in accordance with IFRS 16.
Expected effects of IFRS 16
IFRS 16 will above all have an effect on the accounting of contracts classified as operating leases under IAS 17.
At the balance sheet date, the group had non-cancelable operating leasing obligations amounting to EUR 8,753k per year. Under
IAS 17, these leasing contracts are accounted for off-balance and the lease payments are recognized as an expense on a period
basis. Of the total of the above-mentioned obligations, approx. EUR 5,331k are attributable to leases with a term of less than
twelve months at the balance sheet date. Another EUR 358k are attributable to leases of assets of low value (individual price
< EUR 5k). Since the company elects to apply the exemptions regarding leases with a short term and leases of underlying assets
with a low value, there are no changes in accounting for these types of leases. The group recognizes expenses from these contracts through profit or loss as incurred also under IFRS 16.
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For leasing obligations going beyond that, the group expects to capitalize rights of use amounting to approx. EUR 17,916k as
of 1 January 2019 and to record leasing liabilities amounting to approx. EUR 17,468k (after adjustments for prepayments und
accrued lease payments, recognized as of 31 December 2018). Since both the rights-of-use asset and the leasing liabilities are
recognized at the present value of the remaining lease payments as of 1 January 2019, no deferred taxes were recorded as of this
reporting date.
As part of conducting a lease inventory, leases were identified in which the group is a lessee and which include a service component in addition to a lease component. The group exercises the option to account for the entire lease according to IFRS 16 and
therefore does not separate the lease and service components. This affects leases which are classified as operating leases under
IAS 17. The first-time application does not result in a transition effect for the share of the service components since the expense is
still recognized through profit or loss as incurred. For the leasing component, a leasing liability and a right-of-use asset have been
recognized as described above. The resulting transition effects were already taken into account in the adjustments described in
the previous paragraph.
The group assumes that the initial application of IFRS 16 will result in an increase in EBT by approx. EUR 422k in the 2019
financial year. The effect on the group’s EBITDA will involve a more significant amount. This is due to the fact that expenses
from operating leases were included in EBITDA under IAS 17, but amortization on the capitalized right-of-use asset and interest
expenses from the leasing liability are no longer included according to IFRS 16. The group expects EBITDA to increase by approx.
EUR 4,020k.
Under IAS 17, payments from operating leases were allocated to cash flow from operating activities. Under IFRS 16, current
repayments of the lease liability must be allocated to cash flow from financing activities. Consequently, operating cash flow will
increase by approx. EUR 3,600k and cash flow from financing activities will decrease accordingly.
Leases classified as finance leases under IAS 17 must be recognized as was previously the case at the time of transition to
IFRS 16. However, IFRS 16 leads to changes in the recognition of the right-of-use asset, in particular with respect to initial direct
costs and guaranteed residual value. However, these adjustments are no transition effects resulting from the initial application of
IFRS 16, but rather effects arising after the transition to IFRS 16 and, consequently, modifications.
IFRIC 23 “UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX TREATMENTS”
The interpretation includes rules regarding the recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions and thus closes gaps
existing in this regard under IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. In accordance with the provisions of IFRIC 23, an entity is to assume
that a taxation authority will have full knowledge of all relevant information. In addition, uncertainty over tax treatments can
have an impact on both actual taxes and deferred taxes. Moreover, the published interpretation includes references to existing obligations regarding disclosure in the notes in accordance with IAS 1.122 and IAS 1.125-1.129 for judgments, assumptions and estimates made as part of accounting for uncertain tax positions. The provisions of IAS 12.88 and the obligation to
disclose tax-related contingent liabilities and contingent receivables are also pointed out. At present, no material effects on
the group’s asset, financial and earnings position are expected.
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AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 9
The amendments are intended to enable measurement at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) also for such financial assets with an early repayment option, for which a party receives or pays an appropriate compensation in the event of a termination (appropriate negative compensation). At present, no material effects on the
group’s asset, financial and earnings position are expected.
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE EU
From a current perspective, the other new versions and amendments to the rules listed above will not result in any material
changes to the group’s asset, financial and earnings position.

B. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and the financial statements of the
companies controlled by the parent company as of 31 December of each year. Control is deemed to exist if the company is
exposed to fluctuating returns from its involvement with the company, or is entitled to these and has the ability to affect these
returns through its power over the affiliated company. Such control is presupposed with a stockholding in excess of 50%.
The consolidation of an affiliated company commences on the day upon which the investor gains control of the company and
ends when this is lost.
The following changes to the scope of consolidation occurred during the 2018 financial year.
Incoming company

Initial consolidation date

Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH (formerly
Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.), Jeging

March 2018

Rinner GmbH, Salzburg

March 2018

Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd. (formerly
Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.), Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
M-Cyklus s.r.o., Prague

May 2018
August 2018

The scope of consolidation as of 31 December 2018, including Heinzel Holding GmbH as the parent company, consisted of
48 fully consolidated companies (2017: 44) and no companies consolidated at equity (2017: 0).
The scope of consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH is presented on the final pages of these Notes under the Item “Scope of
consolidation of Heinzel Holding GmbH”.
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Certain companies remained unconsolidated since their business results were not considered to be material to the
consolidated financial statements. These companies are listed under the Item “Non-consolidated subsidiaries and
non-significant associated companies”.
ACQUISITION OF MODERNE VERPACKUNG HOFFMANN GMBH (FORMERLY CARL BERNH. HOFFMANN GESELLSCHAFT M.B.H.)
AND RINNER GMBH BY THE SUB-GROUP EUROPAPIER
In order to strengthen the position in the area of packaging solutions, Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH
(formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.), Jeging, and Rinner GmbH, Salzburg, were acquired with
effect from 1 March 2018.
Moderne Verpackung Hoffman GmbH (formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.), has established a position in the German-speaking packaging market offering a comprehensive product portfolio. From standard solutions
to customized packaging, the company meets all requirements of commercial and industrial customers. The most
outstanding advantages include the use of state-of-the-art technology and the continuous further development of
appropriate product and packaging solutions.
The acquisition of Moderne Verpackung Hoffman GmbH (formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.)
supports the establishment of the new area “Packaging Solutions”. Moreover, the intention is to roll out the business
model to the other Europapier companies by transferring know-how, thus increasing diversification within Europapier
Group as a whole.
The following table shows an overview of the purchase price paid for the acquisition as well as the values of the
identified assets and estimated debts taken over on the acquisition date. Since parts of the purchase price were paid
at later dates, the price was discounted. In addition, a subsequent purchase price adjustment amounting to EUR 38k
was made based on the results of 2018. The final purchase price will be determined upon presentation of the audit
reports for the companies. From a current perspective, no changes are expected.
Agreed purchase price as of 1.3.2018
Discount
Subsequent purchase price adjustment
Discounted purchase price

EUR 13,338,779.33
–54,547.45
38,282.79
13,322,514.68

EUR 4,852k of the purchase price were not paid as of 31 December 2018. This amount is recognized under current
financial liabilities.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 · NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

73

AMOUNTS OF IDENTIFIED ACQUIRED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
In EUR k
Cash and cash equivalents
Intangible assets
Customer relationships

IFRS carrying values

Adjustments

Acquired fair values

1,425

0

1,425

14

0

14

0

3,436

3,436

4,321

822

5,143

Inventories

3,295

0

3,295

Trade and other receivables

2,338

0

2,338

Tangible assets

Deferred taxes

133

–1,065

–932

–2,318

0

–2,318

Non-current provisions (pensions, severance
payments, long service bonuses)

–208

0

–208

Tax liabilities

–581

0

–581

–5,518

0

–5,518

2,900

3,193

6,093

Trade payables and other liabilities

Loans
NET ASSETS
GOODWILL

7,230

The IFRS carrying values correspond with the fair values prior to the purchase of stocks by Europapier Group. The
adjustments column contains those amounts that were necessary for the determination of the acquired fair values.
They are related to the revaluation of land and buildings, as well as the recognition of customer relationships and the
related deferred taxes. The customer relationships recognized as part of the acquisition will be amortized over the
next five years.
Since 1 March 2018, Moderne Verpackung Hoffman GmbH (formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.)
contributed sales revenues of EUR 22,730k to the group’s sales revenues reported in the consolidated income statement. The share in profit amounted to EUR 1,211k during the same period.
Had the acquired companies already been consolidated in the group’s income statement as of 1 January 2018, additional sales revenues of EUR 4,497k and additional earnings after taxes of EUR 230k would have been reported.
As a result of these acquisitions, the figures reported in the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement
are only comparable to a limited extend to those of the previous year.
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ACQUISITION OF HEINZEL SALES ASIA PACIFIC SDN. BHD. (FORMERLY FIRGOS (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD.)
BY THE SUB-GROUP WILFRIED HEINZEL
With effect from 30 March 2018 (closing), 100% of the shares in Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., based
in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, were acquired. In December 2018 the company name was changed to
Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd.
The following table shows the identified assets and liabilities acquired at the acquisition date:
Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
In EUR k

IFRS carrying value

Adjustments

Acquired fair values

3,515

16

3,531

71

0

71

Supply rights

0

2,101

2,101

Customer relationships

0

373

373

Cash and cash equivalents
Intangible assets

Tangible assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Deferred taxes
Trade payables and other liabilities
NET ASSETS
GOODWILL

63

0

63

977

0

977

2,216

0

2,216

5

–594

–589

–4,265

0

–4,265

2,582

1,896

4,478
1,715

The IFRS carrying values correspond to the fair values prior to the purchase of the shares by Heinzel Group. As a
result of the purchase of the shares in Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd. (formerly Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.),
a difference of EUR 3,595k results from capital consolidation and was split as follows:

In EUR k
Goodwill

1,715

Supplier-supply contract

2,101

Acquired customer base

373

Deferred tax liability

–594

The total purchase price for the acquired company amounted to EUR 6,144k and was fully paid in March 2018.
Liquid funds amounting to EUR 3,535k were acquired with the purchase of the company.
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The adjustments column contains those amounts that were necessary for the recognition of the fair values paid. They are
related to the recognition of supply rights and customer relationships and the related deferred taxes. The supply rights
recognized as part of the acquisition will be amortized over the next five years, the customer relationships over the next three
years.
Since 1 April 2018, Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd. (formerly Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.) contributed sales revenues of
EUR 10,632k to the group’s sales revenues reported in the consolidated income statement. The share in profit amounted to
EUR 505k during the same period.
Had the acquired company already been consolidated in the group’s income statement as of 1 January 2018, additional
sales revenues of EUR 15,512k and additional earnings after taxes of EUR 520k would have been reported.
ACQUISITION OF M-CYKLUS S.R.O.
With effect from 7 June 2018 (Closing), Austrian Recycling s.r.o. acquired 51% of the shares in M-Cyklus s.r.o., based in
Prague, Czech Republic.
At the same time, an option agreement regarding the purchase of the remaining 49% was concluded; the takeover of the
entire company is planned for 2019.
With the purchase price paid in the amount of EUR 67k (CZK 1,720,000k), inventories, equipment, rights and the customer
base were acquired. Goodwill of EUR 56k was identified in the purchase price allocation. No further disclosures are made
due to immateriality. The full goodwill method was applied. The option is a put option.
As a result of the acquisition of this long-standing business partner, Austrian Recycling s.r.o. is represented with a location in
the Czech capital and can utilize additional synergy effects, also in logistics.
TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS WITHOUT LOSS OF CONTROL
Transactions with non-controlling interests without loss of control are recognized as transactions with the owners of the group
acting in their ownership capacity. A difference between the fair value of the paid amount and the acquired share of the
carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired during the purchase of a non-controlling interest is recognized
as equity. Profits and losses resulting from a sale to non-controlling interests are also recognized as equity. In May 2018,
Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding, Vancouver, acquired 12.5% of the shares in North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc., Vancouver, for a
purchase price of EUR 665k and consequently now holds 77.5% of the shares in this company.
In September 2018, Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Vienna, acquired the remaining 49% of the shares in Austrian Recycling s.r.o.,
Temelin, for a purchase price of EUR 1,500k.
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
An associated company is a company that is neither subject to full nor joint control, but upon which the group can exert significant influence by means of participation in its financial and business decision-making processes. As a rule, an affiliation
exists when 20 to 50% of voting rights are held.
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Associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method (IAS 28). Interests
in associated companies are reported in the balance sheet at the cost of acquisition, which is adjusted for changes in the
group’s share of net assets after the acquisition date, as well as for losses resulting from impairment. Losses that exceed the
group’s interests in associated companies are included to the extent that legal or de facto obligations exist.
Where the initial costs of the acquisition of the company exceed the full fair value of the group’s interest in the identifiable
fixed assets and debts of the associated company on the date of acquisition, the difference is shown as goodwill. If the initial
costs of the acquisition of the company are less than the full fair value of the group’s interest in the identifiable fixed assets
and debts on the date of acquisition, the difference is recognized in the income statement in the period when the acquisition
took place.
On every closing date, the group carries out an examination in order to ascertain if there are any indications that the investment in an associated company is subject to impairment. Should this be the case, the impairment requirement is determined as the difference between the investment carrying value of the associated company and the corresponding attainable
amount, and recognized separately in the income statement.
Unrealized gains or losses from up- and downstream transactions between group companies and an associated company are
only to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements in line with the interest of third parties in the associated company. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction shows indications that an impairment of the transferred assets
exists. Where necessary, the accounting and measurement methods are adjusted in order to guarantee uniform accounting
and measurement throughout the group.
Interests in associated companies that do not have a material influence on the consolidated financial statements are not
included in the scope of consolidation at equity, but instead, in line with IFRS 9 at fair value through other comprehensive
income.
Fair value changes were recognized in equity without affecting profit or loss.
SUBSIDIARY CONSOLIDATION METHOD
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the group exerts control. The group has control over an associate when it has the
power of disposition over the company, a risk burden or rights to financial returns exist as a result of its involvement in the associate, and the ability to use its power of disposition over the subsidiary in such a manner that this will influence the amount
of the variable financial returns of the subsidiary. Consolidation of the associate commences on the day that the group takes
control of the company. It ends when the group loses control of the associate. Purchased subsidiaries are recognized in line
with the acquisition method. The costs of the purchase correspond with the fair value of the transferred assets, the equity
instruments issued and the debts resulting or assumed upon the transaction date. Costs relating to the company acquisition
are recognized as an expense in the periods in which they occur.
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Capital consolidation occurs at the time of acquisition through the netting of the purchase price against the fair value of the
net assets of the acquired company. The identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of subsidiaries are recognized
at full fair value regardless of any non-controlling interest. Intangible assets are capitalized separately from goodwill if they are
separable from the enterprise, or result from a statutory, contractual, or other legal right. Remaining positive differences are
recognized in the balance sheet as goodwill. If there are negative differences, these are recognized as earnings only after a
revaluation of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities of the acquired company and an assessment of the
acquisition costs.
Intercompany receivables and liabilities, expenditure and income, as well as intercompany profits, are eliminated unless they
are of minor importance.

C. CURRENCY TRANSLATION WITHIN THE GROUP
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of Heinzel Group. Where the
functional currency used for international financial statements differs from the reporting currency of the group, translation
takes place in accordance with the concept of the modified closing date method. Balance sheet items are translated using
the respective mid-rate as of the closing date. The income statements of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated
using the mean rates of exchange for the respective period. Any differences resulting from currency translation related to the
pro rata share of equity are reported under shareholders’ equity without affecting net income. Should a foreign subsidiary be
deconsolidated, the currency translation differences are recognized as profit or loss.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchanges rates on the transaction date.
Assets and debts in foreign currencies are translated into the group currency at the mean exchange rate on the reporting
closing date. In the case of exchange rate hedging, the hedged rate is employed. Gains and losses resulting from foreign
currency valuation are recognized as profit or loss.
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D. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES
GENERAL
With the exception of derivative financial instruments and securities, which are valued at fair value, the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical acquisition and production costs.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are valued at the acquisition cost and depreciated as scheduled using the straight-line method,
assuming a depreciation period of three to twenty years.
GOODWILL
Goodwill is created during the acquisition of subsidiaries and is constituted by the surplus difference between the
agreed purchase price and the acquired identifiable assets, the assumed debts and all non-controlling interests of the
purchased company, as well as the fair value of its existing equity. Should the purchase costs of the acquired subsidiary be lower than net assets measured at fair value, the resulting difference will be recognized directly as comprehensive income under other operating income.
CONCESSIONS AND RIGHTS
The acquisition costs for computer software, commercial rights and similar rights are capitalized and subject to
straight-line amortization over their standard useful life. On average, the expenses for electronic software programs
are amortized over a period of four to five years. In the group, licenses and patents demonstrate an amortization
period of around three years.
TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets are valued at acquisition or production cost, less scheduled depreciation, which is calculated by
applying the straight-line method, and impairments. In the 2018 financial year, no significant non-scheduled depreciation of tangible assets was recognized.
Subsequent additional acquisition and production costs are only recognized as part of the acquisition or production
costs of the asset, or where appropriate as a separate asset, when it is probable that the group will accrue a future
economic benefit as a result and the costs can be reliably determined. The carrying value of the part replaced is
written off.
Expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent material replacement investments are recognized in the
income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.
A difference between the gains from the sale of plants and the carrying value is reported as a gain or loss under the
result from operating activities.
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For depreciable tangible assets, the following expected useful lives are assumed:

Buildings including buildings on third-party property
Plant and machinery
Other fixed assets, tools and equipment

15 to 50 years
5 to 20 years
5 to 8 years

BORROWING COSTS
In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the purchase, construction or production of a
qualified asset are capitalized as part of the cost of acquisition or production of this asset until all the work required for the
use of the created asset for its intended purpose or sale has been largely completed. During the determination of the amount
of the capitalized borrowing costs in a certain period, all the plant earnings obtained from the financial investment that were
temporarily invested for the qualified asset up to the point of use are deducted from the borrowing costs incurred.
During the 2018 financial year, the criteria for a qualified asset were fulfilled for the construction of the PM3 in Pöls. Borrowing costs of EUR 138k were capitalized therefor in the current financial year (2017: EUR 0) (underlying interest rate:
1.226% p.a.).
Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they occur.
IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets with an undetermined useful life are subjected to an impairment test at least once a
year, or when indications of value impairment exist. All other assets and cash-generating units are tested should there be any
indications of value impairment.
For impairment testing, assets are grouped on the lowest level generating independent cash flow (cash-generating unit).
Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies derived from the related business purchase and that represent the lowest level within the group at which management monitors the related cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognized to the amount by which the carrying value of the individual asset or the cash-generating
unit exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s net selling price and the value in
use. Impairment losses recognized for cash-generating units, to which goodwill is allocated, primarily reduce the carrying
value of goodwill. Any additional impairment losses reduce the carrying value of the other assets in the cash-generating unit
on a pro rata basis.
With the exception of goodwill, a reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the event of a reversal of previously recognized impairment indicators.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS
In accordance with IAS 20, government grants are only recognized at fair value when reasonable assurance exists that the
entity will comply with any conditions attached to the grant and that it will be received. Grants are basically recognized as
income over the period necessary to match them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate. Where grants are
received for the purchase or production of assets, the amounts are deferred and reversed through other operating income
over the useful life of the asset.
INVENTORIES
Own products and goods are valued at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and the net realizable value. The net
realizable value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and necessary selling costs. Raw materials,
supplies, and operating materials are valued using sliding average prices. In addition to direct material and labor costs, group
products include an appropriate proportion of material and production overheads (based on normal operational capacity).
The costs of acquisition and production do not contain any borrowing costs.
The standard prices for own products is determined in accordance with the FIFO principle.
EMISSION ALLOWANCES
Allowances allocated for free are capitalized at the value at the date of the allocation and recognized under current assets.
Emission allowances acquired for a consideration are recorded at cost under current assets and measured at fair value at
the balance sheet date (however, limited to acquisition costs). Surplus and expected use of emission allowances is presented
under other liabilities.
Other liabilities include provision for CO2 emission allowances in case of underallocation. The measurement is based on the
closing date rate (or the carrying value) of the allowances.
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IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” deals with the classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities. The full version of IFRS 9 was published in July 2014. This standard supersedes IAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” with the exception of the option to retain hedge accounting under IAS 39 (temporarily). In
addition, the provisions of IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives” were integrated in IFRS 9.
The first-time application of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018 resulted in changes in the accounting methods and adjustments
of the amounts reported in the financial statements. In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9.7.2.15 and
IFRS 9.7.2.26, comparative figures were only restated with respect to certain aspects of hedge accounting.
In the following, adjustments to the opening balance as of 1 January 2018 resulting from the initial application of IFRS 9 are
explained at the level of the balance sheet items concerned and structured according to the sections of IFRS 9.
A) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 contains a new approach to the classification and measurement of financial assets, which reflects both the business
model within which financial assets are held and the characteristics of their cash flows.
IFRS 9 includes three important classification categories for financial assets:
»» Measured at amortized cost
»» Measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
»» Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Pursuant to IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts that are based on a financial asset that falls within the scope of application of the standard are never recognized separately. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument will be assessed overall in line
with its classification.
The new classification requirements do not have a material impact on the accounting of trade receivables, loans and bonds
and equity securities held as financial assets which are controlled at fair value.
The group holds shares in listed investment funds which serve to cover pension and other long-term employee benefit obligations. These are presented in the balance sheet under other non-current financial assets. In the past, they were classified as
afs financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, the group accounts for them at fair value through profit
or loss and shows all changes in the financial result.
In addition, the group holds non-consolidated shares in associated companies, which must be measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income according to IFRS 9 since they do not meet the SPPI criterion and are not held for trading.
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B) IMPAIRMENT – FINANCIAL ASSETS
IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred losses” impairment model according to IAS 39 by a future-oriented “expected losses” model.
This requires considerable discretionary decisions with regard to the question as to the extent to which the expected credit
losses will be influenced by shifts in economic factors. This estimation is determined on the basis of weighted probabilities.
The new impairment model is applied to debt instruments, leasing receivables, trade receivables, contractual assets (as
defined by IFRS 15) measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and loan commitments
and financial guarantees not measured at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of equity securities held as
financial assets.
Pursuant to IFRS 9, impairments will be measured on the basis of one of the following principles:
»» 12-month expected loss: for financial instruments that have not been subject to a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a company must make a provision in the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated within the next
twelve months.
»» Lifetime expected loss: for financial instruments that have been subject to a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a company must make a provision in the amount of the loan defaults that are anticipated during the expected
life of the financial instrument.
A company can determine that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not risen significantly when the asset demonstrates a low credit risk on the balance sheet date. However, measurement according to the concept of lifetime expected loss
must always be applied to trade receivables and contractual assets without a material financing component. A company may
also apply this method to trade receivables and contractual assets with a material financing component.
A significant part of the group’s receivables (66%) is covered by credit insurance pursuant to internal regulations. Therefore,
the group’s receivable defaults and impairments have historically been very low. The same is also to be expected for existing receivables in the future. The group currently holds no receivables with financing components or leasing receivables.
Accounting pursuant to IFRS does not result in any material effects.
The group determines the expected credit losses based on default estimate with time frames of 30, 60 and 90 days.
The group’s management evaluated its business model as part of the implementation of IFRS 9 and is in the business model
“hold”. The SPPI test also showed that the receivables meet the SPPI criterion. For non-consolidated investments included at
equity, the SPPI test is not met.
The initial application of IFRS 9 does not result in any effects on retained earnings.
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C) CLASSIFICATION – FINANCIAL DEBTS
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements of IAS 39 for the classification of financial debts.
However, pursuant to IAS 39 all changes to the fair value of debts determined for measurement at fair value through profit
or loss are recognized in profit and loss, whereas pursuant to IFRS 9, these changes in fair value are basically reported as
follows:
»» The change in fair value that can be attributed to changes in the credit risk of the debt is recognized in other comprehensive income.
»» The remaining change in fair value is recognized in profit or loss.
The group has not determined any financial debts measured at fair value through profit or loss and currently does not intend
to do so. The application of the requirement of IFRS 9 does not show any material effects regarding the classification of financial debts as of 31 December 2018.
D) HEDGE ACCOUNTING
When first applying IFRS 9, the group has the right to choose to continue to apply the accounting regulations of IAS 39 for
hedging transactions instead of the requirements of IFRS 9. The group continues to apply IAS 39 for hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 aims to show the effects of the company’s risk management activities. In the future, an existing risk management
strategy will represent a prerequisite for recognition as a hedging relationship.
The group uses forward exchange transactions for the hedging of fluctuations in the cash flows derived from shifts in the
exchange rates used for the taking of loans, receivables, sales and purchases.
The group measures hedging transactions at fair value. The market value of forward exchange transactions is recognized
directly through profit or loss and is not recorded as part of hedge accounting. In line with the hedge accounting rules, the
result from the measurement of interest swaps is recognized in a reserve.
The types of accounting for hedging transactions which the group currently determines meet the requirements of IFRS 9.
Based on a treasury policy, which is already applied throughout the entire Heinzel Group, a solid set of rules is also in place
with respect to risk management strategy and risk management goal.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are available at any time such as assets at banks with a maximum original maturity of three months.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Within the group, various plans exist for payments to employees due in the long term.
PENSIONS, OBLIGATIONS SIMILAR TO PENSIONS AND SEVERANCE PAYMENTS
A defined contribution plan is a plan under which the group pays fixed amounts to a non-group company or corporate body.
The group is under no legal or de facto obligation to make additional payments should the fund have insufficient assets in
order to meet all the employee claims derived from the current and previous financial years. A defined contribution plan is
not a performance-related plan.
Typically, performance-oriented plans establish a pension sum that the employee will receive upon retirement, which as a
rule is dependent upon one or more factors (such as age, period of service and remuneration). Included among the performance-oriented plans are the severance payments to be made in Austria to employees, whose employment relationship
commenced prior to 1 January 2003.
The provision made in the balance sheet for performance-oriented plans corresponds with the cash value of the defined
benefit obligation (DBO) on the closing date less the fair value of the plan assets.
An independent actuary calculates the DBO annually by means of the projected unit credit method. The cash value is
established through the discounting of the anticipated future cash outflows with the interest rate for top credit-rated corporate bonds. The corporate bonds are in the currency of the payment amounts and have maturities in line with the pension
obligations.
Actuarial gains and losses, based on experience-related adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions are recognized
as equity in the period in which they occur in “Other comprehensive income”.
Service costs and past service costs are recognized immediately as personnel expenses.
Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as interest expenses.
In the case of defined contribution plans, the group makes payments to public or private insurance plans on a legal, contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no payment obligations above and beyond the contribution payments. When due, the
amounts are recognized as personnel expenses.
OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Other long-term payments to employees include long-term, paid leave of absence such as special leave following long service
or leave for personal further training, long-service bonuses and other related payments. As opposed to the accounting prescribed for payments made following the termination of the working relationship, revaluations of the net debt (or net assets)
are not recognized as “Other income”, but as an expense or income, as is the case with service costs and net interest on the
net debt (or net assets).

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 · NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

85

PROVISIONS
Provisions are formed when the group (a) has a current legal or de facto obligation resulting from a prior event, (b) it is more
likely than not that the settlement of the obligation will result in an asset burden and (c) the amount of the provision could be
reliably determined.
Provisions are measured using the cash value of the anticipated expense, whereby a pre-tax interest rate is established
that accounts for current market expectations regarding the interest effects and the specific risks relating to the obligation.
Increases in provisions derived purely from compounding are recognized under profit and loss as interest expenses.
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES
The tax expense for the period consists of both current and deferred taxes. Taxes are reported as profit and loss unless they
relate to items reported under “Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”. In this case, the taxes are also reported under
“Equity” or “Other comprehensive income”.
The current tax expense is calculated using the tax regulations valid on the closing date of the countries in which the company and its subsidiaries are active and generate taxable income. The management examines tax declarations regularly,
in particular with regard to issues subject to interpretation, and where appropriate, forms provisions based on the amounts
expected to be paid to the fiscal authorities.
Tax deferrals are formed for all the temporary differences between the assets/liabilities tax base and their carrying values in
the IFRS financial statements (so-called liabilities method). However, if in the course of a transaction that does not constitute
a company merger, deferred taxation emanates from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability that at the time of the
transaction had neither an effect upon the balance sheet or taxable profit or loss, the deferred tax asset or liability is neither
recognized at the date of initial recognition nor subsequently. Deferred taxes are measured using those tax rates (and regulations) that apply on the closing date, or have been substantially adopted into law and which are anticipated to be valid on the
date of the realization of the deferred tax accrual or the settlement of the deferred tax liability.
Deferred taxes are only recognized to the extent that a sufficient fiscal surplus is expected in the future against which the
temporary difference can be employed.
Deferred tax liabilities resulting from temporary differences in connection with interests in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint arrangements are recognized unless the date of the reversal of the temporary differences can be determined
by the group and it is probable that owing to this influence, it is unlikely that the temporary differences will not be reversed
in the foreseeable future. As a rule, the group has no influence on the date of reversal in the case of associated companies.
Therefore, temporary differences are only not recognized in those cases that are contractually regulated and upon which the
group can exert an influence.
Deferred tax accruals and liabilities are netted when a corresponding legally enforceable right to offsetting exists and the
deferred tax accruals and liabilities relate to income taxes imposed by the same fiscal authority for either identical or differing
tax objects, which intend to complete offsetting on a net basis.
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REALIZATION OF INCOME AND EXPENSES
Sales revenues are recognized when control over goods or services is transferred to a customer; the control concept therefore
replaces the previous focus on the transfer of opportunities and risks.
A new five-step model must be applied to revenue recognition:
1. Identify the contracts with a customer
2. Identify the individual performance obligations in the contract
3. Determine the transaction price
4. Allocate the transaction price to the individual performance obligations
5. Recognize revenue when the individual performance obligations are satisfied
Significant changes compared with the previously applicable procedure:
»» Distinct goods or services must be identified as separate performance obligations; any discounts or rebates on the contract
price must be allocated to the individual performance obligations.
»» Sales revenues must be recognized earlier than before, if the consideration is variable (e.g. discounts, performance
bonuses, licensing fees, penalties, etc.) – minimum amounts must be recognized if it is highly probable that no significant
cancelation will be made.
»» The time of revenue recognition may change: Revenue previously recognized at a point in time can now be recognized
over time as the case may be and vice versa.
»» New specific rules exist, among other things, for licenses, warranties, non-refundable upfront fees and consignment
arrangements.
»» Several new disclosure requirements
The management analyzed the effects of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements and did not identify any
significant contracts which would lead to changed revenue recognition. The individual contracts with customers were allocated to different business models (sale of pulp, paper, recycled paper trading, etc.) and the five-step model described above
was applied. Hedging is still based on the provisions of IAS 39. The group’s transaction prices are based on the estimated
consideration and take into account any revenue deductions. In the case of volume-based discounts, a refund liability is
formed. The group intends to update the analysis annually in order to ensure proper revenue recognition.
Operating expenses are recognized on the date the service is utilized, or on the date of occurrence.
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USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and financial obligations as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results can differ from these estimates. The principle
of true and fair view is fully applied in the use of estimates. In addition, sensitivity analyses are carried out as part of the impairment test. For their calculation, key parameters are changed in order to present possible deviations from the estimates.
The consolidated financial statements include the following material items, the valuation of which is influenced significantly
by the underlying assumptions and estimates:
»» The assessment of the recoverability of intangible assets, goodwill and property is based on forward-looking statements.
The calculation of recoverable amounts as part of the impairment test is based on various assumptions, for example
regarding future surplus funds and discount rates. The surplus funds correspond to the values contained in the latest
business plan at the time of preparation of the financial statements.
»» Assumptions relating to interest rates, retirement age, life expectancy, employee turnover and future increases in remuneration are used for the valuation of existing pension and severance payment obligations.
»» The recognition of deferred tax assets is based on the assumption that sufficient tax income will be realized in the future to
utilize tax loss carryforwards.
If the estimates and assumptions change, significant adjustments to the carrying values in the subsequent year may be
required in particular for the items listed above
ROUNDING
Owing to rounding, it is possible that individual figures in these consolidated financial statements do not add up precisely to
the sum reported and that the percentages given do not mirror exactly the absolute values that they reflect.
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E. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1. Intangible assets
Concessions and
other rights

Software

Goodwill

Total intangible
assets

14,859

9,331

15,461

39,651

12,489

597

9

13,094

–55

–4

–252

–310

Disposals

0

–98

–296

–394

Transfers/reclassifications

0

37

0

37

Investments arising from business
combinations

0

0

0

0

27,293

9,863

14,922

52,078

4,091

703

0

4,794

–35

–54

–80

–170

0

–478

0

–478

–55

55

0

0

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences

GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Investments arising from business
combinations
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2016
Amortization 2017

3,973

197

9,000

13,170

35,266

10,286

23,842

69,394

9,991

3,954

2,770

16,714

3,748

1,441

0

5,190

Foreign currency differences

1

–14

0

–13

Disposals

0

–94

0

–94

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

Investments arising from business
combinations

0

0

0

0

13,740

5,287

2,770

21,797

3,092

1,616

0

4,708

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2017
Amortization 2018
Foreign currency differences

0

–45

0

–45

–57

–279

0

–336

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

Investments arising from business
combinations

0

0

0

0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2018

16,775

6,579

2,770

26,124

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017

13,553

4,575

12,153

30,281

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018

18,491

3,706

21,072

43,270

Disposals
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The additions to concessions and other rights are primarily related to a right of use of Laakirchen Papier AG in a
purification plant of the water treatment association. In the financial year, this involved investments of EUR 1.9 million
(2017: EUR 8.4 million).
Goodwill arises when subsidiaries are acquired and represents the surplus of the transferred consideration for the
acquisition over the fair value of the group’s shares in the acquired identifiable assets, acquired liabilities, contingent
liabilities and all non-controlling interests of the acquired company at the acquisition date.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGU) for the purpose of impairment tests. It is allocated to those CGU
or groups of CGU in accordance with the business segments identified that are expected to benefit from the combination from which the goodwill resulted. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill was allocated represents the
lowest level within the company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. As the group
is managed based on production sites and business segments, the sub-groups Europapier and Wilfried Heinzel AG as
well as the other production companies of the group are considered cash-generating units.
The test to determine whether goodwill has been impaired is conducted annually. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared with the recoverable amount, i.e. the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. Impairments are expensed as incurred and not reversed in the subsequent periods.
The annual impairment test for goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life is carried out at the end of
the fourth quarter of the financial year.
The calculations were based on the following assumptions:
»» The annual impairment test was conducted based on a business plan for the coming five years (2019–2023) prepared and approved by the management. The plan assumes the following growth rates of sales revenues and the
following increase in costs:
– Average growth of sales revenues:
– Europapier sub-group: 1.02%
– Zellstoff Pöls AG: 1.03%
– Bunzl & Biach Group: 1.04%
– Wilfried Heinzel sub-group: 1.08%
– Average increase in costs:
– Europapier sub-group: 1.02%
– Zellstoff Pöls AG: 1.02%
– Bunzl & Biach Group: 1.05%
– Wilfried Heinzel sub-group: 1.08%
»» Values between 6.73% (2017: 6.11%) and 7.37% (2017: 6.12%) were used. To determine the plan values beyond
2023, annual growth ranging from 0.6% to 1.0% (2017: 0.5% and 2.2%) was assumed.
Goodwill was measured using the discounted cash flow method. The measurement is based on the plan figures of the
subsequent years (detail planning for the years 2019–2023, terminal value for years after 2023).
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The effects of changes in the most important assumptions on the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating units are shown in the following table:

2018

Carrying
value of
CGU Goodwill

Surplus
coverage
of carrying
value

Discount
rate before
tax

Discount Growth rate
rate after for terminal
value
tax

Break-even
discount
rate 1

Reduction
growth rate
terminal
value for
break-even

EUR k

EUR k

EUR k

%

%

%

%

Percentage
points

Europapier
sub-group

130,790

10,177

15,090

8.83

7.06

0.6

7.86

1.07

Zellstoff
Pöls AG

385,608

2,042

172,654

8.56

6.85

1.0

9.82

4.35

26,088

1,683

24,990

8.75

6.73

1.0

12.99

9.60

91,836

7,068

121,902

9.21

7.37

1.0

15.58

18.68

n/a

103

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Bunzl &
Biach
Group
Wilfried
Heinzel
sub-group
Other
1

Discount rate starting from which an impairment would occur if cash flow planning remains unchanged.

The impairment tests confirmed that all goodwill is unimpaired. A sensitivity analysis of the goodwill-carrying units
showed that if the discount rate increases by 0.8 percentage points, all carrying values are still covered and no impairment is necessary. In addition, a cash flow sensitivity analysis shows that all carrying values are also still covered if
the terminal value growth rate decreases by one half of a percentage point.
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2. Tangible assets
The net values represent residual carrying values after depreciation, i.e. purchase costs less accumulated
depreciation.

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Transfers/reclassifications
Investments arising from business
combinations
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017
Investments
Foreign currency differences

Property and
buildings

Machinery

Tools and
equipment

Assets under
construction

Total tangible
assets

216,908

747,121

63,667

23,230

1,050,926

12,637

82,341

13,313

13,139

121,431

–10

47

39

6

81

–251

–51,467

–5,173

37

–56,854

2,961

16,228

439

–19,665

–37

0

0

9

0

9

232,245

794,270

72,294

16,747

1,115,556

4,735

17,402

7,437

77,080

106,654

–3

–129

–110

–2

–243

Disposals

–859

–11,713

–3,712

–79

–16,364

Transfers/reclassifications

3,373

9,771

394

–13,539

0

Investments arising from business
combinations

4,735

189

468

9

5,401

244,226

809,791

76,770

80,217

1,211,004

90,609

473,661

39,671

–56

603,886

8,304

34,066

6,344

54

48,767

GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2016
Depreciation 2017
Foreign currency differences

0

8

–10

0

–2

–135

–51,062

–4,561

0

–55,759

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

Investments arising from business
combinations

0

0

0

0

0

98,778

456,673

41,444

–2

596,892

8,005

37,295

7,120

–81

52,338

–1

–91

–60

0

–151

Disposals

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2017
Depreciation 2018
Foreign currency differences
Disposals

–464

–11,632

–3,393

0

–15,490

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

Investments arising from business
combinations

0

0

0

0

0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2018

106,317

482,245

45,110

–84

633,588

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017

133,467

337,598

30,849

16,750

518,664

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018

137,909

327,546

31,660

80,301

577,416
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Material additions to the tangible assets at Zellstoff Pöls AG included payments for the PM3 (EUR 64,385k) and the
purchase of a new washing press (EUR 1,861k).
The investments in tangible assets at Laakirchen Papier AG amounting to EUR 12.1 million in 2018 were significantly
lower than in the previous year (EUR 86.4 million). The main part is still related to the conversion of the PM10.
The bulk of investments in AS Estonian Cell in Estonia was employed for aerobic wastewater treatment (EUR 5,400k).
In accordance with IAS 17, land and buildings used subject to leasing contracts, which owing to the design of the
lease are attributable to the lessee (finance leasing), are reported under “Land and buildings”. The carrying value of
these assets amounted to EUR 2,178k (2017: EUR 2,467k). Obligations existing from these contracts are reported as
financial liabilities.
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3. Shares in associated and other companies
In line with IFRS 9, shares in associated and other companies which are classified as immaterial, as well as other
interests are accounted for at fair value through other comprehensive income and show the following movement:
Shares in associated
companies

Shares in other
companies

1,838

711

Investments

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

1,391

394

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2016

Measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income
Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

3,229

1,105

Investments

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

Transfers/reclassifications

0

0

413

445

0

0

3,641

1,550

567

0

Depreciation 2017

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

Reversals

–9

0

0

0

GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017

Measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS OF 31.12.2016

Changes in the scope of consolidation
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS OF 31.12.2017

558

0

Depreciation 2018

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

Disposals

0

0

Reversals

0

0

Changes in the scope of consolidation

0

0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AS OF 31.12.2018

558

0

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017

2,671

1,105

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018

3,084

1,550

Regarding a breakdown of the shares please refer to the chapter “Non-consolidated subsidiaries and non-significant
associated companies”.
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4. Other financial assets
Securities held as non-current assets consist of shares in listed investment funds and serve primarily to cover the
provisions for pension payments as required under Austrian tax law.

In EUR k
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2016
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017
Investments
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
Changes in the scope of consolidation
GROSS VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2016
Depreciation 2017
Reversals 2017
Foreign currency differences
Disposals
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2017

Securities

Loans to third parties

Total of other
financial assets

7,940

6,664

14,604

6

3,089

3,095

0

0

0

–45

0

–45

0

0

0

7,901

9,753

17,654

463

0

463

0

0

0

–672

–1,552

–2,224

0

0

0

7,692

8,201

15,892

–32

2

–30

54

0

54

0

0

0

0

0

0

–7

0

–7

15

2

17

267

0

267

Reversals 2018

0

0

0

Foreign currency differences

0

0

0

Disposals

0

0

0

Depreciation 2018

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AS OF 31.12.2018

282

2

283

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2017

7,886

9,751

17,637

NET VALUES AS OF 31.12.2018

7,410

8,199

15,609
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CURRENT ASSETS
5. Inventories
For obsolete inventories, impairments were established to an amount of EUR 16,492k (31.12.2017: EUR 11,117k).
In 2018, a comparison of the purchase price or production cost with the net realizable value resulted in a revaluation
requirement of EUR 1,146k (31.12.2017: depreciation requirement of EUR 174k).

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

23,378

18,237

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for sale
Payments on account

2,382

2,598

132,147

104,807

3,502

3,971

17,038

19,190

178,447

148,803

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

326,443

287,833

722

535

56,325

47,375

32

28

3,566

4,076

3

36

Supplies and operating materials

6. Trade and other receivables
The trade receivables are due from various national and international customers.

In EUR k
Trade receivables
Trade receivables from associated companies
Other receivables
Other receivables from other companies
Income tax receivables
Other receivables from associated companies
Deferred expenses

1,184

833

388,274

340,716

The receivables from associated companies result primarily from the ongoing offsetting of trade receivables within the
group and from group financing.
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The insolvency risk emanating from customers is accounted for by a provision of EUR 16,608k (2017: EUR 16,772k)
Provisions development is as follows:

In EUR k
Year beginning balance as of 1.1.

2018

2017

16,772

18,356

Foreign currency differences

–283

–211

Use of provisions

–813

–1.650

Reversals

–2,995

–3,080

Additions

3,844

3,357

Initial consolidation
YEAR ENDING BALANCE AS OF 31.12.

83

0

16,608

16,772

The share in the amount of additions which is attributable to initially consolidated companies is immaterial.
The age structure of trade receivables not yet due and overdue is as follows:

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

264,992

231,076

56,834

55,012

91–180 days overdue

2,928

1,210

More than 180 days overdue

1,689

535

326,443

287,833

Not yet due
Up to 90 days overdue

In EUR k

Thereof impaired in 2018

Up to 90 days overdue

1,177

91–180 days overdue

779

More than 180 days overdue

736

No impairments are required for receivables not yet due or overdue and not impaired. No significant change in the
creditworthiness of the debtors was determined and it is assumed that the receivables outstanding and not impaired
will be paid in due time.
The fair value (Level 3) of trade receivables corresponds to the carrying value due to the current nature.
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The item Other receivables consists of the following components:

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

37,004

28,622

9,898

10,554

Emission allowances

2,783

2,982

Other

6,640

5,217

56,325

47,375

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Receivables from tax authorities
Supplier bonuses

7. Other current financial assets
The item Other current financial assets is comprised of the following:
In EUR k

0

0

Not pledged securities

Pledged securities

38,376

43,020

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

38,376

43,020

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

85,248

101,374

Securities are primarily shares in investment funds.
8. Cash and cash equivalents

In EUR k
Cash in hand and balances with banks

The adjustment of the cash in hand and balances with banks from the previous year relating to currency translation
amounted to minus EUR 342k (31.12.2017: minus EUR 414k).
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and other short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are
available at any time with a maximum original maturity of three months.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
9. Equity
As of 31 December 2018, share capital amounted to EUR 3,635k and was unchanged throughout the 2018 financial year.
The capital reserves as of the closing date for the 2018 financial year amounted to EUR 8,600k (31.12.2017:
EUR 8,600k).
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Distributions amounting to EUR 10,909k (31.12.2017: EUR 10,000k) were made to shareholders of Heinzel Holding GmbH
and to holders of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries amounting to EUR 1,824k (31.12.2017: EUR 2,881k) during the
financial year.
The item Foreign currency translation contains exchange rate differences from currency translation within the course of consolidation and as of 31 December 2018 amounted to minus EUR 12,974k (31.12.2017: minus EUR 11,411k). This represents
an increase of EUR 1,563k.
Non-controlling interests
This item includes the equity attributable to minority stockholders in the subsidiaries of Wilfried Heinzel AG, Europapier
Group, Bunzl & Biach Group and Laakirchen Papier AG.
10. Non-current financial liabilities
This item contains the following:

In EUR k
Non-current financial liabilities Zellstoff Pöls AG

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

54,423

13,846

Non-current financial liabilities Heinzel Holding GmbH

6,025

11,363

Non-current financial liabilities AS Estonian Cell

5,313

10,560

13,100

5,000

1,250

2,500

40,000

26,000

5,000

5,000

Non-current financial liabilities Europapier International AG
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier CEE GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Laakirchen Papier AG
Non-current financial liabilities Wilfried Heinzel AG
Non-current financial liabilities Austrian Recycling GmbH
Non-current financial liabilities Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Non-current financial liabilities Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd
Non-current financial liabilities

113

6

3,369

3,557

296

0

128,889

77,832

All other information in this segment refers to the respective non-current financial liabilities excluding option liabilities.
Option liabilities exist at Austrian Recycling GmbH (EUR 97k) and at Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd (EUR 296k).

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 · NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

99

The fair value (Level 2) of the non-current financial liabilities corresponds to EUR 128,986k.
The maturities and interest rates are as follows:

31.12.2018 in EUR k

Interest rate in %

Maturity

54,423

1.11

2020–2024

6,025

1.67

2020–2021

AS Estonian Cell

5,313

1.40

2020

Europapier CEE GmbH

1,250

4.70

2020

13,100

1.38

2020–2028

Zellstoff Pöls AG
Heinzel Holding GmbH

Europapier International AG
Wilfried Heinzel AG
Laakirchen Papier AG
Austrian Recycling GmbH
Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd

5,000

0.56

2020

40,000

0.95

2020–2023

113

0.96

2020–2022

3,369

1.70

2020–2022

393

0.00

2021–2027

128,986

The effective interest rate represents the average interest expense in the 2018 financial year, following consideration
of any interest and currency hedging, in terms of a percentage relative to the average carrying value and amounts
to 1.28%.
Non-current liabilities amounting to EUR 128,889k are due in one to nine years.
The carrying values of financial liabilities are reported entirely in euros.
On the closing date, the interest rate change risks relating to the financial liabilities and contractual interest adjustment
dates were as follows:
31.12.2018
6 months or shorter

31.12.2017

80,996

77,832

80,996

77,832

In order to hedge the interest rate risk of the financial liability carrying long-term variable interest, securities (interest
rate swaps) of EUR 53,703k (31.12.2017: EUR 54,384k) were concluded for the aforementioned liabilities to banks.
The remaining financial liabilities of EUR 47,990k carry fixed interest and therefore are not subject to repricing dates.
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Liabilities to banks are partially secured by means of the granting of liens on company real estate or machine mortgaging. Liens were granted for the loan held by Estonian Cell. The outstanding amount of the loan currently amounts
to EUR 10.5 m
 illion. Furthermore, loan liabilities are secured through bills of surety and federal guarantees from
Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft (OeKB).
In addition, Heinzel Group receives export loans from the OeKB export credit agency.
11. Pensions and other employee benefits

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Provisions for severance payments

27,573

27,791

Provisions for pensions

23,443

23,106

Provisions for long-service bonus obligations

6,731

6,180

57,747

57,077

EUR 54,891k (31.12.2017: EUR 53,933k) of the provisions for pensions, severance payments and long-service bonus
obligations are related to the Austrian companies, while the companies in other countries account for EUR 2,857k
(31.12.2017:EUR 3,144k). Since the values of the provisions for companies not based in Austria are immaterial, the
information regarding the parameters for the valuation of social capital refer to the underlying parameters for the
companies in Austria.
Personnel of Austrian companies, whose employment commenced prior to 1 January 2003, are entitled to a one- off
payment in the event of their employment being terminated by the employer, or upon their retirement. The amount of
this payment is dependent upon the number of years of service and wages or salary at the time of termination. For
personnel, whose employment commenced after 31 December 2002, this obligation is transferred to a defined contribution plan. Payments to these external employee pension funds are recognized as an expense.
The pension obligations are defined as supplementary pensions on an individual contractual basis, or as part of
company agreements. They exist for Zellstoff Pöls AG, Europapier CE GmbH, EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H,
Laakirchen Papier AG, Bunzl & Biach GmbH and Raubling Papier GmbH, and contain retirement, occupational
invalidity pension, widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions. The pensionable age corresponds with that of the
individual agreements. For employees, who are still active, the level of payments has been defined in accordance with
the individual contracts. The company or the pension fund pays the annual pension amount to employees who have
already left the company. The widows’ and widowers’, and orphans’ pensions are established in accordance with the
agreements.
In addition, various pension commitments exist that primarily affect employees in Austria.
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The valuation of social capital for the Austrian companies is based on the following parameters:

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Interest rate

%

1.75

1.25

Wage/salary increases

%

1.75

1.25

1.25/0.00
1.25/0.00

%

2.00 Raubling Papier
GmbH
1.75 Zellstoff Pöls AG
0.00 Wilfried Heinzel
AG

Pension increases (Europapier Group)

%

1.75/0.00

Pension increases (Bunzl & Biach GmbH)

%

1.75

1.25

Pension increases (Laakirchen Papier AG)

%

0.00/1.75

0.00/1.25

Years

max. 65/60

max. 65/60

AVÖ 2018-P
(salaried employees)
HEUBECKRICHTTAFELN 2018 G
von Klaus Heubeck

AVÖ 2008-P/
KH 2005 G

Pension increases (Wilfried Heinzel AG, Zellstoff
Pöls AG, Raubling Papier GmbH and other
companies)

Retirement age men/women

Mortality tables

The fluctuation probabilities applied in determining the amount of provisions allocated for severance payments and
long-service bonuses are calculated on the basis of a fluctuation analysis.
In line with a statement from the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee regarding the handling of
“old severance payments” pursuant to IAS 19 from March 2013, terminations of employment and “solutions by mutual consent on the part of the employer” are not accounted for in the fluctuation.
Therefore, differing fluctuation probabilities are employed for the provisions for severance payments and long-service
bonuses on the basis of employment termination and payout probabilities. The fluctuation probabilities for Austrian
companies range between 0% and 15% for long-service bonuses and between 0% and 6% for severance payments.
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Provisions for severance payments
In EUR k
As of 1.1.
Initial application of IAS
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Amortization and other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial
assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Total actuarial gains and losses
Severance payments

2018

2017

27.790

29.760

64

0

0

0

15

–44

652

678

328

346

–1,368

103

–39

0

–11

0

1,418

–103

1,368

–103

–2,644

–2,848

Provisions for severance payments as of 31.12.

27,573

27,790

Defined benefit obligation as of 31.12.

27,573

27,790

2018

2017

23,106

27,252

0

0

Provisions for pensions
In EUR k
As of 1.1.
From changes to the scope of consolidation
Currency translation
Service costs for the period
Past service costs

0

0

78

671

0

–7,328

275

328

Actuarial gains and losses from changes in demographic
assumptions

1,785

1,248

Actuarial gains and losses from changes in financial
assumptions

–782

1,923

319

321

Interest expense for the period

Actuarial gains and losses from experience adjustments
Pensions including severance payments

–1,339

–1,309

Provisions for pensions as of 31.12.

23,443

23,106

Defined benefit obligation as of 31.12.

31,298

30,803

7,854

7,697

23,443

23,106

Plan assets
= DBO – plan assets
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Plan assets development

In EUR k

2018

2017

As of 1.1.

7,696

9,215

From changes to the scope of consolidation

0

0

Currency translation

0

0

96

115

556

–1,242

Interest gains for the period
Income from plan assets excluding contributions reported as
interest
Contributions

0

– Employer

–30

–46

– Employee

0

0

Payments made from plan assets

–525

–437

As of 31.12.

7,854

7,696

The plan assets for the coverage of the pension obligations were reinsured by means of insurance policies concluded
with Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG Vienna Insurance Group and Allianz Pensionskasse AG.
The plan asset portfolio structure is shown below.
According to information received, the Allianz Pensionskasse AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:

Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock

%

Stocks

36

Bonds

42

Alternative investments
Real estate

3
10

Direct shareholdings

8

Financial market

1

Total

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.

100
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According to information received, the Wiener Städtische Versicherung AG share of plan assets is invested as follows:

Structure of the capital investments in classic cover stock

In %

Fixed interest securities

64

Stocks, supplementary capital, usufruct rights, part.cap.

2

Investment funds

22

Affiliated companies and participations

3

Loans

6

Real estate

2

Bank credits

1

Total

100

This breakdown is based on the latest values available.
Other plan assets pursuant to IAS 19 do not exist.
Provisions for long-service bonuses

In EUR k

2018

2017

As of 1.1.

6,180

6,585

From changes to the scope of consolidation

0

0

Currency translation

0

0

337

366

75

78

144

0

Service costs for the period
Interest expense for the period
Other changes
Actuarial gains and losses from changes
Amortization
Long-service bonus payments

520

–171

–524

–678

Long-service bonus provision as of 31.12.

6,731

6,180

Defined benefit obligation as of 31.12.

6,731

6,180
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The following components were recognized and disclosed in the result for the period:
Pensions
In EUR k
Current service costs
Past service costs
Interest expense

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

78

671

0

–7,328

275

328

Expected income from plan assets

–556

1,242

Annual expense/income

–203

–5,087

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Severance payments
In EUR k
Current service costs

652

678

Interest expense

328

346

Annual expense

980

1,025

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

337

366

75

78

Actuarial gains/losses

520

–171

Annual expense

931

273

Long-service bonuses
In EUR k
Current service costs
Interest expense

The average maturities of the respective obligations of the individual companies in years are as follows:

Duration – DBO in years
Zellstoff Pöls AG, Wilfried Heinzel AG, Heinzel Holding GmbH
and other companies
Companies of the Europapier sub-group

Pensions

Severance payments

12

8

9

7

Bunzl & Biach GmbH

10

9

Laakirchen Papier AG

13

8
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MATURITIES
Pensions
Maturity profile – DBO

In EUR k

Year 1-5

8,673

Year 6-10

7,154

From year 11

15,471

Severance payments
Maturity profile – DBO

In EUR k

Year 1-5

10,926

Year 6-10

8,487

From year 11

8,160

Sensitivities to changes in the discount rate and salary and pension increases for pensions and severance
payments
The subsequent actuarial assumptions were considered to be significant and stressed with the following margins:
Hedging interest rate +/–0.25%, wages and salary trend +/–0.25%, pensions trend +/–0.25%.
The impact upon the DBO should the interest rate or wages, salaries and pensions increase/decrease by 0.25% is
shown.
The differences to the reported values are shown in the table below as relative deviations.
Owing to the differing stock structures of the companies, sensitivities are shown separately.
WILFRIED HEINZEL AG, ZELLSTOFF PÖLS AG, RAUBLING PAPIER GMBH AND OTHER COMPANIES
Pensions
Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.90

–2.80

Pension increases

0.25

–2.80

2.90

In %
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Severance payments

In %

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

1.90

–1.80

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.80

1.90

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

EUROPAPIER GROUP
Pensions

In %
Interest rate

0.25

2.10

–2.00

Pension increases

0.25

–2.00

2.00

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Severance payments

In %
Interest rate

0.25

1.60

–1.50

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.50

1.50

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.60

–2.50

Pension increases

0.25

–2.50

2.50

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

2.10

–2.10

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–2.10

2.10

BUNZL & BIACH GMBH
Pensions

In %

Severance payments

In %
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LAAKIRCHEN PAPIER AG
Pensions

In %

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Interest rate

0.25

3.10

–2.90

Pension increases

0.25

–0.70

0.80

Assumed
change

Parameter decrease/
DBO change

Parameter increase/
DBO change

Severance payments

In %
Interest rate

0.25

1.90

–1.80

Wage/salary increases

0.25

–1.80

1.80

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

8,219

9,309

710

657

8,929

9,966

2018

< 1 year

> 1 year

8,219

813

7,406

2017

< 1 year

> 1 year

9,309

1,123

8,186

12. Other liabilities
In EUR k
Obligations from grants received
Other

The grants received are divided as follows in line with their maturities:

Grants received

Grants received

The reported grants include grants for the PM2 project, the installation of the steam turbine 4 and the construction of
a district heating bleed system at Zellstoff Pöls AG. A further tranche relates to funding of the Laakirchen Papier AG
shoe press and the cooling system PM11 project. As all conditions and requirements are currently being complied
with, there is no risk that repayment of the subsidies will be required.
Subsidies are reversed over the expected useful life of the asset for which they were granted. The reversal is recorded
in the income statement in other operating income.
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13. Liabilities from financial leasing
The office and warehouse building in Bratislava is rented under the terms of a financial leasing agreement. The
contract was extended for another five years in December 2017, whereby the lessee is obliged to purchase the object
following the end of the lease for a sum of EUR 2,790k.
The interest rates underlying the liabilities from financial leasing are adjusted to the six-month EURIBOR on a
half-yearly basis. The interest rate at the closing date amounted to 1.70%. The cash value of the minimum leasing
payments has the following maturities:

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments

Discount

Cash value
of minimum
leasing payments

197

3

194

Maturity 1–5 years

3,621

219

3,402

Maturity > 5 years

0

0

0

As of 31.12.2018

3,818

222

3,596

Total of future
minimum leasing
payments

Discount

Cash value
of minimum
leasing payments

187

3

184

Maturity 1–5 years

3,840

283

3,557

Maturity > 5 years

0

0

0

As of 31.12.2017

4,027

286

3,741

In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year

In EUR k
Maturity < 1 year

14. Current financial liabilities

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Short-term export financing

12,000

57,500

Bond and bank financing with maturity < 1 year

59,516

59,091

5,046

32,387

76,562

148,978

Other short-term financing

Other short-term financing includes the still outstanding purchase price of EUR 4,852k for the acquisition of Moderne
Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH (formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.).
Interest rates range between 0.4% and 10.49%, whereby all the liabilities reported under this item have a term of less
than one year.
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The carrying values of the current financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

EUR

47,163

117,994

USD

478

624

CZK

8,289

7,614

BGN

6

76

HRK

35

123

HUF

165

85

PLN

16,690

17,421

RUB

3,763

5,041

76,562

148,978

On the closing date, the interest rate change risks in connection with the financial liabilities and contractual interest
rate adjustment dates were as follows:

In EUR k
6 months or shorter

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

76,562

148,978

76,562

148,978

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

211,127

195,786

19,677

16,243

15. Trade accounts payable

In EUR k
Trade accounts payable to third parties
Trade accounts payable to associated companies
Liabilities from investments

10,536

28,064

241,340

240,093

The fair value (Level 3) of trade accounts payable corresponds to the carrying value due to the current nature.
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16. Other current provisions and liabilities

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Other provisions

15,172

12,560

Other liabilities to third parties

44,132

39,951

Other liabilities to associated companies
Deferred income
Other liabilities to employees

0

148

1,163

1,377

81

68

60,548

54,103

In the previous year, other current provisions and liabilities included liabilities to affiliated companies related to
income taxes amounting to EUR 26,187k. They were in their entirety related to the tax allocation vis-à-vis EMACS
Beteiligungs AG. Since the 2018 financial year, the tax allocation has been included in the item Income tax liabilities
(EUR 31,654k).
OTHER PROVISIONS

In EUR k

Balance as of
1.1.2018

Additions

Disposals
through
reversals

Disposals
through
utilization

Balance as of
31.12.2018

71

2

60

128

Legal and consulting costs
Other personnel-related
provisions

3,232

1,296

141

1,120

3,267

Other

9,274

23,781

1,053

20,225

11,776

12,624

25,148

1,196

21,405

15,171

For other provisions, maturity is expected within a year.
The item Other includes, among other things, provisions for contractual construction and maintenance measures,
provisions for severance payments and provisions for obligations arising from the Energy Efficiency Act.

HEINZEL GROUP

112

F. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
17. Sales revenues
During the year under report, Heinzel Group raised its net income by 13.7% to EUR 2,064.8 million. This is primarily
attributable to the good production volumes at the group’s own mills and high market prices. In addition to selling its
own products, the trading volume sold amounted to 3,834,766 metric tons, which accounts for roughly 60% of the
sales volume.
Sales revenues by segment

2018
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues
with external customers

Industry

Trading

Other

Consolidation

Total

823,379

1,426,062

1

–184,644

2,064,798

50,650

134,001

0

–184,650

0

772,729

1,292,062

1

6

2,064,798

All the sales revenues attained in 2018 derived from the goods area. Therefore, Heinzel Group had no earnings from
services.
Sales revenues from transport services are not reported separately due to immateriality.
18. Changes in inventories and own work capitalized

In EUR k

2018

2017

Changes in inventories

5,618

–1,594

Own work capitalized

1,372

2,934

6,990

1,340

The changes in inventories consist of the changes in finished products and work in progress as compared to the
previous year.
In addition to direct material and production costs, own work capitalized contains an appropriate share of material
and production overhead costs. Of the own work capitalized (EUR 1,372k), EUR 758k is attributable to the PM3 and
EUR 121k to the PM2 at Zellstoff Pöls AG.
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19. Other operating income

In EUR k

2018

2017

0

164

Income from insurance

48

5,680

Other operating income

7,426

6,931

7,474

12,775

Income derived from the badwill from the initial consolidation of
Green Recycling GmbH, adjustment badwill Raubling Papier GmbH

Other operating income is essentially related to the reversal of provisions (EUR 1,183k), the sale of by-products,
energy and scrap (EUR 1,802k), research grants (EUR 996k) and rental income (EUR 252k).

20. Cost of materials and services

In EUR k
Raw materials
Supplies and operating materials

2018

2017

310,035

290,212

217,066

191,648

1,080,224

1,024,534

1,607,326

1,506,394

2018

2017

Wages

42,237

40,893

Salaries

66,819

61,216

1,569

1,370

921

974

Statutory social expenses

27,800

26,207

Voluntary social expenses

6,071

2,863

145,417

133,524

Goods for resale

21. Personnel expenses
In EUR k

Expenses for severance payments
Expenses for pensions

The expenses for defined contribution plans reported under the personnel expenses amounted to EUR 1,407k
(2017: EUR 1,107k).
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22. Other operating expenses

In EUR k

2018

2017

Taxes other than taxes on income and earnings

1,440

1,558

Consultants and fees

9,150

7,649

Insurance

6,223

6,033

10,329

10,317

IT and communications costs

3,848

3,897

Travel expenses

4,583

4,217

941

1,056

Rents and leasing

Advertising costs
Training costs

1,092

967

Donations and representational costs

1,381

1,025

Contributions

990

942

Office material

553

554

Miscellaneous other operating expenses

34,302

26,450

74,832

64,665

The amount of EUR 34,302k recognized under the item “Miscellaneous other operating expenses” includes, among
others, the following items:
Selling costs of approx. EUR 12,700k (mainly sub-group Europapier); service fee for the buying syndicate Papierholz
Austria approx. EUR 1,700k (Zellstoff Pöls AG); and recognized exchange rate differences of approx. EUR 700k.
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23. Financial results
The interest and other financial results consist of the following components:

In EUR k

2018

2017

Interest income

1,077

1,257

Interest expenses

–5,814

–5,549

Dividend income

15

1

Income/expenses from fair value recognition of derivatives
Other financial income/expenses

–817

568

–1,717

–273

–7,256

–3,996

The item Other financial income/expenses is composed of income derived from the disposal of financial assets
amounting to EUR 628k, as well as the write-up and write-down of other fixed interest financial assets amounting to
EUR 2,345k.
24. Income taxes
The corporate tax rate applicable to the parent company, Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, as of the closing date
was 25%.
With the 2005 Tax Reform Act, the Austrian legislature created the possibility for group taxation. Under this system,
following the clearing of prior losses, the tax results of the companies belonging to the tax group are attributed to the
tax group parent. To compensate for the tax results being passed on to the tax group parent, an apportionment of
taxes is agreed in the tax group contracts.
For the calculation of deferred taxes, an income tax rate of 25% is applied to companies located in Austria, whereas for companies located abroad the effective tax rate of the relevant country is used. Losses occurring within the
Heinzel tax group (Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG acts as the tax parent of Heinzel Holding GmbH and nearly all
Austrian group companies are members of the Heinzel taxation group) are immediately utilizable within the companies included in the tax group in the same year in which the losses are incurred. A five-year period was used as
reference for the calculation of the share of tax loss carryforwards that the group will be able to employ in the future.
The capitalization of deferred taxes was effected to an extent that will make it possible to employ them through
future positive operating results. No tax deferrals were formed for additional loss carryforwards in Austria in excess
of EUR 5,636k. On the basis of current planning in certain foreign markets, in the paper trading segment no large
future results or risks exist with regard to fiscal enforceability and therefore these were only reported in the amount of
EUR 2,864k. The trading segment shows foreign loss carryforwards totaling EUR 6,615k.
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In EUR k

2018

2017

Earnings before taxes

187,556

69,633

Income tax expenses

–42,541

–14,648

22.7

21.0

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (%)

In EUR k
Current income tax
Deferred taxes

2018

2017

42,331

14,085

210

564

42,541

14,648

2018

2017

In EUR k

In %

In EUR k

In %

187,556

100.0

69,633

100.0

Expected income tax expenditure

46,889

25.0

17,409

25.0

Effects of foreign tax rates

–3,700

–2.0

–1,639

–2.4

363

0.2

949

1.4

Use of tax shields

–893

–0.5

–1,533

–2.2

Capitalization of loss carryforwards from previous periods

–149

–0.1

–39

–0.1

–25

0.0

–983

–1.4

98

0.1

41

0.1

Earnings before taxes

Taxes from previous periods

Change in estimates of tax deferrals
Effects of initial and subsequent consolidation
Other permanent differences
ACTUAL INCOME TAX EXPENDITURE

–42

0.0

445

0.6

42,541

22.7

14,648

21.0

In accordance with IAS 12.39, deferred taxes derived from the differences of the pro rata net assets and the fiscal
carrying value of interests in subsidiaries totaling EUR 113,974k (31.12.2017: EUR 93,304k) are not recognized, as a
sale of the interests is not to be expected in the foreseeable future.
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The time differences between the values of the tax statement and the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Aktiva
In EUR k
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current provisions and liabilities
Current provisions and liabilities
Loss carryforwards

Passiva

31.12.2018 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
1,939

4,556

42,580

44,044

2,017

2,832

0

4,148

38,798

38,781

0

0

9,926

11,113

15,070

10,384

2,864

3,482

0

0

55,543

60,764

57,650

58,576

Deferred taxes

12,593

13,844

14,241

14,474

Offsetting of deferred taxes to the same fiscal authority

–9,393

–9,661

–9,393

–9,661

NET DEFERRED TAXES

3,200

4,183

4,848

4,813

THEREOF CURRENT

2,986

3,486

3,768

3,633

35

53

5,900

408

COMPOSITION IN DETAIL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
thereof intangible assets
thereof tangible assets

962

625

36,679

43,636

thereof financial assets

943

3,878

0

0

1,939

4,556

42,580

44,044

25. Miscellaneous information
OBLIGATIONS RELATING OF THE USE OF ASSETS NOT REPORTED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
The amounts of obligations relating to the use of assets not reported in the balance sheet (operating leasing contracts)
for the noncallable period are as follows:

In EUR k

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

9,762

7,314

Maturity 1–5 years

13,317

14,394

Maturity > 5 years

7,546

6,912

30,625

28,620

Maturity < 1 year

TOTAL

The total rental and leasing expense (operating leasing) amounted to EUR 11, 886k in the 2018 financial year
(2017: EUR 11,636k).
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The indirect method was employed for the cash flow statement. The fund of cash and cash equivalents corresponds
to cash in hand and bank balances.

Changes in working capital

In EUR k

2018

2017

Inventories

–25,326

9,878

Trade and other receivables

–34,256

10,364

13,387

–10,142

–46,195

10,100

Trade payables
TOTAL

Changes in financial liabilities

Changes
related to
currency
translation

Changes in
the scope of
consolidation

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Cash changes

Non-cash
changes

Non-current
financial liabilities

77,832

48,956

393

0

1,708

128,889

Current financial liabilities

148,978

–81,079

5,991

–1,138

3,810

76,562

TOTAL

226,810

–32,123

6,384

–1,138

5,518

205,451

In EUR k
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SEGMENT REPORTING
Heinzel Holding GmbH and its subsidiaries operate in three business segments comprised by industry, trading and
others. The definition of operating segments is based on internal control and internal financial reporting to the Heinzel
Holding GmbH (CODM) Board. The management reviews the business success of the segments regularly in order to
allocate segment resources to the segments.
The segments include the following companies:

Segment

Description

Gesellschaft

Industry

Production of pulp and
paper

Zellstoff Pöls AG, Pöls
AS Estonian Cell, Kunda
Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen
Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling

Trading

Trading with pulp and
paper products

Bunzl & Biach GmbH, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Austrian Recycling s.r.o, Temelin
Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen
Green Recycling s.r.o., Cukrovarská
M-Cyklus s.r.o., Prague
Wilfried Heinzel AG, Vienna, and subsidiaries
Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl, and subsidiaries

Others

Group management

Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna
Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

Segment information is generally subject to the same disclosure, accounting and valuation methods as the consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS
In the course of segment reporting, Laakirchen Papier AG, the pulp mill in Estonia, Zellstoff Pöls AG and the Raubling sub-group, consisting of Raubling Papier GmbH and Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH are
allocated to the Industry segment.
The Trading segment shows the results of the sub-group Wilfried Heinzel AG, the consolidated Europapier Group and
the sub-group recycled paper (Bunzl & Biach and its subsidiaries). Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH (formerly
Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft m.b.H.) has been part of the Trading Business since March 2018, Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. since May 2018 and M-Cyklus s.r.o. since August 2018.
2018
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues
with external customers
Material expenditure

Industry

Trading

Other

Consolidation

Total

823,379

1,426,062

1

–184,644

2,064,798

50,650

134,001

0

–184,650

0

772,729

1,292,062

1

6

2,064,798

–508,578

–1,283,387

–2,753

187,393

–1,607,326

Personnel expenditure

–84,579

–58,604

–2,233

0

–145,417

Amortization

–49,463

–7,282

–131

0

–56,875

EBIT

162,692

34,846

–2,553

–172

194,812

–4,287

–1,488

14,474

–15,955

–7,256

Financial result
Tax expense

–36,282

–7,326

1,067

0

–42,541

Segment assets

888,642

446,129

280,137

–278,740

1,336,169

377,774

297,468

47,336

–103,977

618,601

–121,616

–5,612

–63

0

–127,291

Segment debts
Payments for investments
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2017
In EUR k
Sales revenues
thereof inter-segment
sales revenues
thereof sales revenues
with external customers
Material expenditure

121

Industry

Trading

Other

Consolidation

Total

634,668

1,338,607

6

–156,796

1,816,484

59,986

96,790

0

–156,777

0

574,682

1,241,816

6

–20

1,816,484

–450,708

–1,212,479

–4

–156,796

–1,506,394

Personnel expenditure

–80,316

–51,748

–1,460

0

–133,524

Amortization

–45,442

–6,834

–112

0

–52,387

EBIT

46,015

28,685

–1,769

697

73,629

Financial result

–2,658

–1,787

19,653

–19,204

–3,996

–8,405

–5,928

213

–528

–14,648

Segment assets

Tax expense

791,148

397,542

276,286

–256,522

1,208,454

Segment debts

384,489

259,496

45,645

–69,287

620,343

Payments for investments

–95,387

–3,942

–77

0

–99,405

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
In the following table, selected financial information is summarized according to the main geographical regions. Revenues from external customers are given with regard to their registered domicile. Assets and capital expenditure are
allocated based upon corporate location. Non-current assets include items of tangible and intangible assets (including goodwill).

2018
In EUR k

Revenues from
external customers

Non-current assets

Austria

226,116

516,100

Western Europe

535,255

29,280

Central and Eastern Europe

325,313

63,756

Middle East

218,973

0

North Africa

192,353

0

South-Eastern Europe

201,778

4,851

Far East/Oceania

153,579

4,336

Russia

135,371

271

South America

43,690

0

Central and Southern Africa

27,014

0

North America

5,355

2,091

2,064,798

620,686
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Pulp deliveries within the group are accounted for at market prices. Other services within the group are accounted for
on the basis of the actual services performed.
The group has no revenues from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to at least 10% of the
group sales revenues.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Non-derivative financial instruments
The receivables, shares and liabilities classified as primary financial instruments were recognized in accordance with
IFRS 9. Accounting and measurement principles are described in the respective balance sheet items. Purchases and
sales of financial instruments are recorded as of the settlement date.
Long-term investments are intended to develop the covering holdings necessary for social capital.
b. Derivative financial instruments
Heinzel Group employs derivative financial instruments to hedge risks from operating and financing activities (changes in interest rates and exchange rates). Currency risks arise when future transactions as well as assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the group company concerned. These risks
are hedged with the objective to smoothen the result from foreign currency items. The group uses foreign exchange
forward contracts for hedging.
Foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps are used to limit and control existing foreign currency
and interest rate risks.
Forward exchange contracts were concluded, inter alia, with respect to the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint,
Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna and Romanian leu and relate to planned sales and purchases or the financing of working capital in foreign currencies for the year 2019.
The group’s interest rate risk is attributable to long-term loans carrying variable interest. The group concludes
interest rate swaps to minimize this risk. They have the same terms and conditions as the hedged item, such as
reference interest rate, repricing dates, payment dates, terms and nominal value. As of 31 December 2018, 58% of
the group’s long-term loans were hedged by interest rate swaps; therefore, the hedged item is identified as a share
of the outstanding loan up to the amount of the nominal value of the swaps. All critical terms matched during the
financial year, so that an effective relationship existed between the hedged item and the hedge instrument. As of
31 December 2018, there was no ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps.
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The following contracts were completed as of 31 December 2018:

In EUR k
Purchase USD

Nominal value
assets

Nominalwert
Liabilities

Marktwert
Assets

Marktwert
Liabilities

0

4,668

55

0

Sale JPY

70,316

0

0

–496

Sale CAD

708

0

0

–7

Sale BGN

657

0

20

0

Sale CZK

2,121

0

0

–1

Sale PLN

0

2,134

0

–14

Sale HRK

1,630

3,340

0

–11

Sale HUF

4,372

1,340

0

–12

Sale RON

5,239

2,230

0

–55

Sale RUB

4,370

2,350

0

–22

Sale MYR

2,006

0

68

0

Sale MYR
CURRENCY DERIVATIVES
INTEREST DERIVATIVES

0

1,060

0

–14

91,419

17,122

143

–631

80,969

0

0

–1,003

172,388

17,122

143

–1,634

The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as of 31 December 2018
is as follows (amounts in EUR k):
Cash flow hedging
not recognized as profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Derivatives
recognized as profit/loss

Nominal
value
0

Nominal value
liabilities
0

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

0

0

70,469

0

0

–731

70,469

0

0

–731

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Nominal
value

Nominal value
liabilities

Currency derivatives

91,419

17,122

143

–631

Interest derivatives

10,500

0

0

–272

101,919

17,122

143

–903
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The portfolio of outstanding derivative financial instruments according to valuation category as of 31 December 2017
is as follows (amounts in EUR k):

Cash flow hedging
not recognized as profit/loss
Currency derivatives
Interest derivatives

Nominal
value
0

Nominal value
liabilities
0

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

0

0

72,324

0

0

–1,001

72,324

0

0

–1,001

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

948

–224

Derivatives
recognized as profit/loss

Nominal
value

Nominal value
liabilities

Currency derivatives

77,628

Interest derivatives

10,500

0

0

–421

88,128

15,256

948

–645

15,256

As of 31 December 2018, forward exchange transactions had a term of up to nine months. The horizon for the interest swaps of EUR 16,766k is short-term and these are due within a year. The remaining swaps totaling EUR 57,453k
are long-term; of this total, EUR 50,703k are due for repayment in one to five years and EUR 6,750k in more than five
years.
The change in fair value of the outstanding hedging instruments amounts to EUR 182k as of 31 December 2018 and
is equivalent to the change in value of the hedged item. The interest swaps concluded to hedge long-term financing
are effective.
The rules for cash flow hedging as stipulated by IAS 39 are applied to interest derivatives concluded for an existing
loan. Conversely, for derivatives with no active financial liability, interest derivatives are recognized in the income statement at their current value. In the case of other derivatives, the hedge accounting regulations contained in IAS 39 are
not applied and instead are reported as stand-alone derivatives.
The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are determined using measurement methods based on the input
parameters observable on the market.
Gains and losses from hedging instruments that are attributable to the effective portion of the changes in the current
value of derivatives in cash flow hedges are recognized in the statement of all income and expenses recognized as
other income. The ineffective part of the gains or losses is immediately recognized in the income statement.
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Financial instruments are recognized centrally and immediately after the completion of transactions. This allows continuous
assessment (mark-to-market valuation) and a judgment of the current risk situation. The following closing date exchange rates
(all against the euro) and interest rates are employed for the valuation of foreign exchange derivatives:

Exchange rates:
BGN

CAD

CZK

1.9558

1.5606

25.7240

HRK

HUF

JPY

MYR

PLN

RON

USD

7.4125 320.9800

125.85

4.7317

4.3014

4.6635

1.145

Interest rates:
EUR

BGN

CAD

CZK

HRK

HUF

JPY

MYR

PLN

RON

USD

ON

–0.43

–0.37

1.30

1.25

0.15

0.18

1 month

–0.40

–0.31

1.70

1.30

0.20

0.20

0.00

3.18

1.30

2.45

2.45

–0.29

3.27

2.07

2.61

2.70

3 months

–0.36

–0.25

1.80

1.35

0.25

0.22

6 months

–0.29

–0.13

2.05

1.45

0.26

0.28

–0.25

3.65

1.90

2.86

2.87

–0.20

–

1.92

3.07

2.95

9 months

–0.23

–0.01

2.25

1.55

0.26

0.44

–0.14

–

1.96

3.21

3.03
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following table presents the financial instruments of Heinzel Group by category in accordance with IFRS 9
(amounts in EUR k):

Financial assets

Measurement category pur.
to IFRS 9

31.12.2018

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Interests in associated
companies

At fair value through other
comprehensive income

3,084

0

0

3,084

Interests in other
companies

At fair value through other
comprehensive income

1,550

0

0

1,550

Other non-current
financial assets

At fair value through profit
or loss

7,410

0

0

7,410

Non-current
receivables from loans

At (amortized) cost
8,199

0

0

8,199

Cash and cash
equivalents

At (amortized) cost
85,248

85,248

0

0

Other current
financial assets

At fair value through profit
or loss

38,376

38,376

0

0

Trade and other
receivables

At (amortized) cost
388,274

383,308

3,129

1,837

Derivative financial
assets

Derivatives at fair value
through profit or loss

143

143

0

0

532,284

507,075

3,129

22,080

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 · NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial liabilities

Measurement category
pur. to IFRS 9

Financial liabilities

At (amortized) cost

Trade and other payables
and provisions

At (amortized) cost

Derivative financial
liabilities

Derivatives at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Derivative financial
liabilities

Derivatives at fair value
through profit or loss
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31.12.2018

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

205,451

32,275

22,101

151,075

241,340

236,153

3,378

1,809

731

731

0

0

903

903

0

0

448,425

270,062

25,479

152,884

31.12.2017

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

Financial assets

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39

Interests in associated
companies

At fair value through other
comprehensive income

2,671

0

0

2,671

Interests in other
companies

At fair value through other
comprehensive income

1,105

0

0

1,105

Other non-current
financial assets

At fair value through profit
or loss

7,886

0

0

7,886

Non-current
receivables from loans

At (amortized) cost
9,751

0

0

9,751

Cash and cash
equivalents

At (amortized) cost
101,374

101,374

0

0

Other current
financial assets

At fair value through profit
or loss

43,020

43,020

0

0

Trade and other
receivables

At (amortized) cost
340,716

338,917

1,210

589

Derivative financial
assets

Derivatives at fair value
through profit or loss

948

948

0

0

507,471

484,259

1,210

22,002
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Financial liabilities

Measurement category
pur. to IAS 39

Financial liabilities

At (amortized) cost

Trade and other payables
and provisions

At (amortized) cost

Derivative financial
liabilities

Derivatives at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Derivative financial
liabilities

Derivatives at fair value
through profit or loss

31.12.2017

Less than
3 months

3–6 months

More than
6 months

226,811

67,313

70,739

88,759

240,093

234,282

3,720

2,091

594

594

0

0

645

645

0

0

468,143

302,834

74,459

90,850

The following table analyzes the financial instruments reported at fair value according to the type of input factors for
the valuation method. IFRS 13 defines three input factor levels (fair value hierarchy):

Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2

Inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. extrapolated from prices) and are not included in Level 1

Level 3

Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities

Financial assets
In EUR k
Shares in non-consolidated associated
companies and other companies

31.12.2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

0

4,634

4,634

0

Other non-current financial assets

7,410

7,410

0

0

Non-current loans to third parties

8,355

0

8,355

0

Current loans to third parties
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets

252

0

252

0

38,376

38,376

0

0

143

0

143

0

903

0

903

0

Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 · NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial assets
In EUR k
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31.12.2017

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

3,776

0

0

3,776

Other non-current financial assets

7,886

7,886

0

0

Non-current loans to third parties

9,808

0

9,808

0

Shares in non-consolidated associated
companies and other companies

Current loans to third parties
Other current financial assets
Derivative financial assets

250

0

250

0

43,020

43,020

0

0

948

0

948

0

645

0

645

0

Financial liabilities
In EUR k
Derivative financial liabilities

Level 2 contains derivative financial instruments (forex). The current value reported (both in the current reporting
period and the previous year) is understood as being prior to accounting for counterparty default risk and own creditworthiness, whereby the deviations from the given current values are minimal.
As of 31 December 2018, no reallocations between the various levels were required.
Net gains or net losses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k

2018

2017

Loans and receivables

6,754

10,607

821

–827

Securities
Financial liabilities valued at amortized cost

–6,019

–7,496

Derivatives (recognized as profit or loss)

–3,716

–3,049

–381

362

2018

2017

Loans and receivables

971

671

Securities

357

513

–2,246

–2,030

–141

–293

Derivatives (other comprehensive income)

Interest income or interest expenses from financial instruments are as follows:
In EUR k

Financial liabilities
Derivatives
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
The primary objective of Heinzel Group’s capital management is to secure going concern in the long term by maintaining a solid capital base to finance future growth in existing mills or through acquisition, and to generate adequate returns to enable attractive dividend payments to the shareholders. In any case, the goal is to meet the ratios
described below and to increase the company value on a sustained basis.
Heinzel Group manages its capital through the gearing ratio, the ratio of net debt to equity, the equity ratio and the
return on average capital employed (ROACE). This indicator describes the interest on the capital employed in operating business or for an investment. Subsequently, the comparison of this profitability key figure with the capital costs of
Heinzel Group enables statements with regard to changes in company value. The internal target of Heinzel Group is a
ROACE which exceeds the WACC (Weighted Average Cost of Capital) in the medium term by 500 basis points.
During growth steps the target for the gearing ratio is 40% and should only be exceeded to a maximum of 80% for a
limited time. The equity ratio should not fall below 30%.
In the reporting period these key figures developed as follows:

2018
Net Debt /EBITDA

2017

0.3

0.7

Gearing Ratio

11.4%

14.0%

ROACE

20.2%

9.1%

1

1

Net debt (EUR million) = Short-term financial liabilities + long-term financial liabilities – cash and cash equivalents – short-term investments

NETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The assets and liabilities emanating from currency future transactions were netted in both the 2018 and 2017 financial years. The net values of the netted assets and liabilities presented the following picture (amounts in EUR k):

Nominal value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities

Net value
nominal value

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Net value
current value

Derivative financial instruments

172,388

–17,122

155,266

143

–1,634

–1,491

TOTAL

172,388

–17,122

155,266

143

–1,634

–1,491

31.12.2018
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31.12.2017
Derivative financial instruments
TOTAL

Nominal value
assets

Nominal value
liabilities
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Net value
nominal value

Current value
assets

Current value
liabilities

Net value
current value

156,414

–15,256

141,158

948

–1,239

–291

156,414

–15,256

141,158

948

–1,239

–291

RISK REPORTING
Market risks
Heinzel Group is exposed to market risks, which relate primarily to foreign exchange rates, interest rates and the current values of investments of liquid assets. The group constantly monitors these exposures. To manage the emerging
volatility affiliated with these risks, the group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments in accordance with group
policy. Where apposite, the group’s objective is to reduce the fluctuations in earnings and cash flows emanating from
changes in interest rates, exchange rates, and the value of investments. Heinzel Group undertakes no financial transactions that include a non-assessable risk at the time of their conclusion.
Foreign exchange risk
Group reporting takes place in euros. The exchange rate risks of Heinzel Group derive mainly from the purchase and
sale of goods in foreign currency, as well as from financing in foreign currencies. These risks primarily relate to the
parity of the US dollar, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint, Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Croatian kuna, and the Romanian leu against the euro. Heinzel Group uses forward exchange transactions to hedge anticipated foreign currency
revenues.
Foreign currency positions and hedging transactions are continuously monitored. Accordingly, if on the closing date
of 31 December 2018, the exchange rate of the currencies listed below with regard to foreign currency positions had
moved by the stated percentages (“volatility”) against the euro and assuming that all other variables had remained
constant, the profit for the year would have been higher or lower by the subsequent amounts. Volatility was determined on the basis of the daily exchange rate movements during 2018 (values in EUR k).

Currency

Volatility

Result effect

Volatility

Result effect

USD

+7.31%

CZK

+2.91%

–62

–7.31%

+134

–42

–2.91%

+39

HUF
HRK

+4.38%

+2

–4.38%

+2

+1.15%

–20

–1.15%

+19

JPY

+7.68%

+8

–7.68%

+7

PLN

+4.20%

–25

–4.20%

+23

RON

+2.05%

–39

–2.05%

+98

MYR

+6.50%

+17

–6.50%

–15
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INTEREST RATE RISK
Heinzel Group manages its net interest rate risk through the ratio of fixed rate to variable rate debt. As of 31 December 2018 the share of fixed-interest financial liabilities amounted to 57.93% (31.12.2017: 30.13%). For long-term
floating rates, interest rate swaps are also used and these are exchanged within the scope of recurrent payments,
based on nominal values and agreed fixed and variable interest rates.
As part of the implementation of IFRS 7, a sensitivity analysis was performed with respect to interest rate changes for
variable interest rate borrowings.
An increase in variable interest rates on borrowings by 100 bps would change the interest expense by EUR 823k
(2017: EUR 1,552k).
An interest increase (reduction) of 100 bps was also assumed for interest swaps and this would impact the current
value of interest rate derivatives as follows:
Change in equity (interest swap with hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 1,548k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR –1,639k
Recognized change (for an interest rate swap without hedge accounting):
Interest increase +100 bps: EUR 102k
Interest reduction –100 bps: minus EUR –115k
Interest is fixed in advance for the next three and six months at the respective calendar quarter.
Counterparty risk
Counterparty risks include the default risk related to derivative financial instruments and money market funds, as well as
the credit risk on current account balances and money market transactions. The default risk and credit risk are reduced
by exclusively selecting banks and financial institutions as counterparties that have at least a BBB rating at the time of
the transaction. Moreover, the Group Treasury establishes and monitors specific limits for each counterparty. Heinzel
Group does not expect any losses resulting from counterparties defaulting on their contractual obligations and is not
subject to any significant cluster risks.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of not having sufficient liquidity available at all times to meet financial obligations
when due and at a reasonable price. Group-wide cash reporting helps to limit this risk and guarantees the transparency required for targeted financial resource management. In addition, Heinzel Group also regularly takes
advantage of the financing opportunities offered by the financial markets. A primary goal of liquidity management is
to safeguard the financial flexibility and independence of the group and limit any undue refinancing risks.
Liquidity risk is dealt with through the creation of a medium-term financing framework, which is underpinned by
individually agreed financial covenants. These agreements are intended to accommodate the conflicting interests
of both parties. The aim is to obtain information at the earliest possible date of negative developments regarding
the debtor and the provision of Heinzel Group with the entrepreneurial freedom to secure corporate financing and
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liquidity rather than be subject to any unexpected loan cancellations. This allows the contractual parties to initiate pro
active countermeasures.
In the case of a demand for repayment non-adherence to the financial covenants may have debt item consequences.
The following financial covenants are to be found in the credit agreements of Heinzel Group: equity ratio, net financial
liabilities/EBITDA and EBIT margin.
The covenants are examined quarterly or half-yearly and reported to the lender bank. In addition, adherence to the
covenants is also examined during the preparation of the annual budget and forecasting. No infringement of the financial
covenants is anticipated for the 2019 budget or the forecast period from 2020 to 2023.
Heinzel Group fulfilled the financial covenants on the 31 December 2018 closing date.
The following table shows the contractual non-discounted cash flows from financial liabilities subject to interest, trade
payables and derivative financial instruments.

In EUR k
Financial liabilities to banks
Liabilities from interest
payments on derivative
interest rate instruments
Trade payables
Derivative financial
instruments

31.12.2018

< 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years

> 5 years

201,058

70,234

50,320

21,706

20,820

20,630

17,348

724

292

184

79

55

40

74

230,804

230,804

0

0

0

0

0

903

903

0

0

0

0

0

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The focus was on the ongoing development of processes in the pulp sector and in particular, systematic advances
with respect to energy use and its optimization.
In the area of graphic paper, the printability of GraphoSet and GraphoVerde was optimized through gloss and formation enhancements. In addition, the product portfolios of GraphoMotion (additional higher substance) and GraphoLibre (improvement of gravure printability) were expanded. Other important development focal points included the
expansion of the range of grades produced on the PM10 and the increase in strength of high-performance fluting
based on the use of different chemical additives.
In the 2018 financial year expenses amounting to EUR 400k were recognized in the income statement.
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MAJOR EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DATE
No significant events occurred after the closing date.
INFORMATION REGARDING BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND PERSONS
Business relations between the group and related party entities are concluded under customary conditions at arm’s
length and are included in the following items:

2018 financial year
In EUR k

Parent company
(or external sub-groups)

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries

Associated
companies

Sales revenues

0

0

0

Material expense/services received

0

0

0

Other operating income

441

0

0

Other operating expenses

315

0

0

Interest earnings

0

0

0

Interest expenses

0

0

0

28,484

0

0

Trade receivables

0

257

465

Other receivables

32

0

3

Trade payables

0

1,051

18,626

Other liabilities

0

0

0

Income tax (levied)
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2017 financial year
In EUR k
Sales revenues
Material expense/services received
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Parent company
(or external sub-groups)

Non-consolidated
subsidiaries

Associated
companies

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other operating income

436

0

0

Other operating expenses

551

0

0

0

0

0

Interest earnings
Interest expenses

0

0

0

14,085

0

0

Trade receivables

0

151

383

Other receivables

4,104

0

36

Trade payables

0

1,047

15,196

Other liabilities

26,188

0

148

Income tax (levied)

The parent company of Heinzel Holding GmbH is Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG. A tax allocation agreement exists
with Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG in connection with the membership of the Austrian companies in the group. Tax
allocations are recognized in the item “Taxes on income and earnings”.
A business relationship exists with the Supervisory Board member Johannes Klezl-Norberg, which is of no material
significance to the financial result of the company. The billing of services rendered is subject to the general hourly
rates of the Dr. Klezl-Norberg law firm.
CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS

In EUR k
Bank guarantees
Import letters of credit
Other contingencies

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

1,213

1,224

128

96

25,859

15,866

27,200

17,186

Other contingencies include a guarantee of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the liability for receivables of Papierholz Austria
GmbH up to a maximum of EUR 25 million.
As of the closing date, the purchase commitment for property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 56,775k. The
bulk of this amount derives from orders for the PM3 at Zellstoff Pöls AG.
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INFORMATION REGARDING BOARD MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES
During the 2018 financial year, Heinzel Group had an average of 1,180 blue-collar employees (2017: 1,010) and
1,289 white-collar employees (2017: 1,380). A breakdown of employee earnings in the income statement into
expenses for wages and expenses for salaries is in accordance with the requirements of the respective country of employment, while a breakdown of the average personnel figures into blue-collar and white-collar employees was carried
out according to functional criteria.
In the 2018 financial year, the following persons were appointed as members of the Management Board:
Kurt Maier
Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner
The remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board of Heinzel Holding GmbH was as follows:
In EUR k

2018

2017

Fixed amounts

808

749

Variable amounts

501

317

Other long-term benefits

0

0

1,309

1,066

The following persons served as members of the Supervisory Board:
Alfred Heinzel, Chairman
Alexander Riklin, Deputy Chairman
Frank Hensel (since 11 April 2018)
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Barbara Schmidt (until 11 April 2018)
Riia Sillave
The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board totaled EUR 120,000 for the past financial year (2017:
EUR 50,000) and was as follows:
In EUR k

2018

2017

120

50

Variable amounts

0

0

Other long-term benefits

0

0

120

50

Fixed amounts

Additional information pursuant to §245a of the austrian commercial code (ugb)
Of the expenses for the auditors, EUR 26,000 relate to the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2018 and
EUR 218,780 to other auditing services.
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION OF HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

Name of company and registered office

Currency

Nominal
capital

Shares in %

Type of
consolidation

Zellstoff Pöls Aktiengesellschaft, Pöls

EUR

24,636,093

99.99

fully consolidated

AS Estonian Cell, Kunda

EUR

44,895,965

100

fully consolidated

Wilfried Heinzel Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna

EUR

1,825,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH, Vienna

EUR

17,500

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Paper GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier International AG, Hinterbrühl

EUR

70,000

90

fully consolidated

Laakirchen Papier AG, Laakirchen

EUR

72,673

99

fully consolidated

Bunzl & Biach Gesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna

EUR

36,336

51

fully consolidated

Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH, Laakirchen

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Austrian Recycling s.r.o., Temelin

CZK

200,000

100

fully consolidated

Green Recycling s.r.o., Cukrovarská

EUR

5,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Import-Export Inc., New York

USD

100,000

90

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l., Milan

EUR

50,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc., New York

USD

2,500

90

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S., Paris

EUR

40,000

100

fully consolidated

Interfibre AG, Zug

CHF

100,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH, Wiesbaden

EUR

25,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd., Vancouver

CAD

3,055,000

100

fully consolidated

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc., Vancouver

CAD

2,488,574

77.5

fully consolidated

Europapier Adria d.o.o., Zagreb

HRK

6,349,300

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Alpe d.o.o., Ljubljana

EUR

341,721

100

fully consolidated

Europapier – Slovensko s.r.o., Bratislava

EUR

136,096

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Dunav d.o.o., Belgrade

RSD

385,234,653

100

fully consolidated

Europapier CE GmbH, Vienna

EUR

2,623,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Austria GmbH, Vienna

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier – Hercegtisak d.o.o., Siroki Brijeg

BAM

1,760,247

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia

BLN

3,330,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Bohemia, spol. s.r.o., Prague

CZK

37,100,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier CEE GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Budapest Kft., Budapest

HUF

370,300,000

100

fully consolidated

LLC Europapier, Moscow

RUB

168,997,283

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o., Błonie

PLN

21,020,000

100

fully consolidated

EU-RO Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Frastanz

EUR

508,710

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Romania SRL, Bucharest

RON

5,000,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier Poland GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o., Warsaw

PLN

171,700

100

fully consolidated

HEINZEL GROUP
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Lexica – SFE JSC., Moscow

RUB

10,000

99

fully consolidated

Europapier CIS GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

100

fully consolidated

Europapier East Europe GmbH, Hinterbrühl

EUR

35,000

50

fully consolidated1

Raubling Papier GmbH, Raubling

94.9

fully consolidated

EUR

1,533,876

HBB Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Raubling

EUR

150,000

100

fully consolidated

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH, Raubling

EUR

204,517

100

fully consolidated

Moderne Verpackung Hoffmann GmbH
(formerly Carl Bernh. Hoffmann Gesellschaft
m.b.H.), Jeging

EUR

36,336

100

fully consolidated

Rinner GmbH, Salzburg

EUR

17,500

100

fully consolidated

Heinzel Sales Asia Pacific Sdn. Bhd. (formerly
Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.), Kuala Lumpur,
Malaysia

MYR

500,000

100

fully consolidated

CZK

50,000

51

fully consolidated

M-Cyklus s.r.o., Prague
1

 uropapier East Europe GmbH is fully consolidated owing to the fact that due to internal directives, Europapier has a
E
controlling influence over decisions affecting the business activities of the company.

NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-SIGNIFICANT ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Name of company and registered office

Currency

Nominal capital

Shares in %

Papierholz Austria GmbH, St. Gertraud

EUR

72,673

25

ZPA Fernwärmetransportleitungs GmbH,
Köflach

EUR

35,000

20

Bioenergie Aichfeld GmbH, Pöls

EUR

35,000

20

EEVG Entsorgungs- und Energieverwertungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Steyrermühl

EUR

36,336

20

“Papyrus” Altpapierservice
Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Salzburg

EUR

229,494

31.67

Austria Papier Recycling Gesellschaft m.b.H.,
Vienna

EUR

181,682

33.36

Europapier Dienstleistungs-Gesellschaft
m.b.H., Eggenburg

EUR

35,000

25

AS Nor-Est Wood, Paide

EUR

40,000

26.5

IRR

100,000,000

64

Mayr-Melnhof & Wilfried Heinzel Teheran Co.,
Teheran

Vorchdorf, 11 March 2019
Kurt Maier m.p., Barbara Potisk-Eibensteiner m.p.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDIT OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH, Vorchdorf, and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018, the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the fiscal year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements and give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018, and of its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements under Section 245a Austrian Commercial Code.
BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
the application of the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those provisions and
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles and professional requirements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements under Section 245a UGB, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Austrian generally accepted auditing standards, which require the application of ISAs, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Austrian generally accepted auditing standards, which require the application of
ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
»» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
»» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
»» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
»» Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
»» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.
»» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
COMMENTS ON THE MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR THE GROUP
Pursuant to the Austrian Commercial Code, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to whether it is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the management report for the Group was
prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.
Management is responsible for the preparation of the management report for the Group in accordance with the Austrian Commercial Code.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Austrian Standards on Auditing for the audit of the management report for
the Group.
Opinion
In our opinion, the management report for the Group was prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements and is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
Statement
Based on the findings during the audit of the consolidated financial statements and due to the obtained understanding
concerning the Group and its circumstances no material misstatements in the management report for the Group came
to our attention.
Vienna, 11 March 2019
PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH
Frédéric Vilain
Austrian Certified Public Accountant

We draw attention to the fact that the English translation of this auditor’s report according to Section 274 of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)
is presented for the convenience of the reader only and that the German wording is the only legally binding version.
This report is a translation of the original report in German, which is solely valid. Publication and sharing with third parties of the consolidated financial
statements together with our auditor’s opinion is only allowed if the consolidated financial statements and the management report for the Group are
identical with the German audited version. This audit opinion is only applicable to the German and complete consolidated financial statements with
the management report for the Group. For deviating versions, the provisions of Section 281 (2) UGB apply.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD
REPORT
At its meetings on 10 April, 27 June, 26 September and 18 December 2018, the management informed the
Supervisory Board of the course of business and the company’s current position both verbally and in writing.
PwC Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH, Vienna audited the annual financial statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the
year ending 31 December 2018 and the management report including the accounting. This also applied to the
consolidated annual financial statements, which were prepared in accordance with the IFRS and supplemented
by the management report for the group and further notes under the terms of §245a of the Austrian Commercial
Code (UGB). The audit confirmed that the accounting, the annual financial statements and management report, the
consolidated annual financial statements according to the IFRS, and the management report for the group conform
to legal requirements and the articles of association. The audit provided no reason for objection, and the auditors duly
issued an unqualified opinion for the consolidated annual financial statements and the annual financial statements of
Heinzel Holding GmbH. The Supervisory Board concurs with the consolidated financial statements and the financial
statements of Heinzel Holding GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2018. The Supervisory Board has considered
and approves the Management Board’s proposal regarding the appropriation of the profit.
The members of the Supervisory Board extend their thanks to the members of the Management Board and the entire
Heinzel Group workforce for their commitment and outstanding achievements during 2018.
Vienna, 2 April 2019
Alfred Heinzel m.p.
Alexander Riklin m.p.
Frank Hensel m.p.
Johannes Klezl-Norberg m.p.
Riia Sillave m.p.
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HEINZEL GROUP

BOARD MEMBERS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

HELMUT LIMBECK

ANDREAS MANG

DIETMAR GEIGL

SEBASTIAN HEINZEL

CEO Europapier International AG

CEO Bunzl & Biach GmbH

CFO Wilfried Heinzel AG

CEO Wilfried Heinzel AG

MARTIN BICHL

KLAUS VLACH

MONCEF REISNER

BARBARA POTISK-EIBENSTEINER

CFO Europapier International AG

CFO Bunzl & Biach GmbH

COO Wilfried Heinzel AG

CFO Heinzel Holding GmbH
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SUPERVISORY BOARD HEINZEL HOLDING GMBH

OTHER GROUP MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

Alfred Heinzel · Chairman
Alexander Riklin · Deputy Chairman
Frank Hensel
Johannes Klezl-Norberg
Riia Sillave

Bettina Sterrer · Communications
Katharina Scheibelreiter · Human Resources
Manfred Peischler · Information Technology
Michael Radler · Purchasing
Franz Krassnig · Logistics

KURT MAIER

INGRID GRUBER

SIIRI LAHE

THOMAS WELT

THOMAS SCHNEIDER

CEO Heinzel Holding GmbH

CFO Zellstoff Pöls AG

CFO AS Estonian Cell

CEO Laakirchen Papier AG

CTO Raubling Papier GmbH

ANDREAS RAUSCHER

LAURI RAID

FRANZ BALDAUF

MAXIMILIAN LUGER

CEO Zellstoff Pöls AG

CTO AS Estonian Cell

CFO Laakirchen Papier AG

CFO Raubling Papier GmbH
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GROUP STRUCTURE
26,5%

100%

AS Nor-Est Wood
Paide, Estonia

AS Estonian Cell
Kunda, Estonia

0.1%

99.9%
Zellstoff Pöls AG
Pöls, Austria
25%

Papierholz Austria GmbH
St. Gertraud, Austria

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018

5.1%

94.9%

Raubling Papier GmbH
Raubling, Germany

1%

99%

51%

Laakirchen Papier AG
Laakirchen, Austria

Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Vienna, Austria

100%
Heizkraftwerk Bauernfeind
Betreibergesellschaft mbH
Raubling, Germany

94.9%

100%

Chiemgau Recycling GmbH
Raubling, Germany

Austrian Recycling s.r.o.
Temelin, Czech Republic

Green Recycling s.r.o.
Sládkovičovo, Slovakia

M-Cyklus s.r.o
Prague, Czech Republic
31.67%

100%

5.1%

100%

51%

Papyrus
Altpapierservice Handelsges.mbH
Salzburg, Austria
Omega Trading Laakirchen GmbH
Laakirchen, Austria

EXTERNAL SUPERVISORY BOARD/ADVISORY BOARD
Regina Friedrich · Zellstoff Pöls AG
Doris Hummer · Laakirchen Papier AG
Riia Sillave · AS Estonian Cell
Andreas Greiner · Bunzl & Biach GmbH
Andrew Paul · Wilfried Heinzel AG
Alexander Riklin · Europapier International AG

EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES
Johann Kaiser, Werner Pally · Zellstoff Pöls AG
Peter Hofstödter, Werner Leitner · Laakirchen Papier AG
Nadja Blenk, Ulrike Ullrich-Springer · Wilfried Heinzel AG
Alfred Grunner, Andreas Pohler · Europapier International AG

Shareholder

Holding and Service

Trading and Merchant

Industry

Associated companies in the raw materials sector, not consolidated
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EMACS Privatstiftung
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Heinzel EMACS Beteiligungs AG
Vienna, Austria

49%

51%
Heinzel Holding GmbH
Vorchdorf and Vienna, Austria
100%

100%

Heinzel, Bunzl Service GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Heinzel Paper GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Limbeck Beteiligungs GmbH
Gols, Austria

90%

10%
Europapier International AG
Hinterbrühl, Austria

90%

Subsidiaries

0.1%

10%
Wilfried Heinzel AG
Vienna, Austria

99.9%
Europapier CE GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Liaison Offices
100%

Heinzel Pulpsales GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

100%

100%

100%

Heinzel Deutschland GmbH
Wiesbaden, Germany

Aisakos S.A.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Greece
Athens, Greece

Allied Paper Agencies
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Australasia
Dandenong South, Australia

Interfibre AG
Zug, Switzerland

Alliance Cellulose Pvt. Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office India
Chennai, India

Kenya Stationer Limited
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office East Africa
Nairobi, Kenya

Mayr-Melnhof &
Wilfried Heinzel Tehran Co.
Teheran, Iran

Paperboard Iberia S.L.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Spain
Barcelona, Spain

Heinzel Sales Representative Office
China and South East Asia
Shenzhen, China

Heinzel Sales Poland Sp.z.o.o.
Warsaw, Poland

Papimpex
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Egypt
Cairo, Egypt

Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
Mexico & Central America
Atizapán, Mexico

Europapier East Europe GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Firgos (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Polygrafsnab – Authorised Heinzel
Sales Distributor Bulgaria
Soﬁa, Bulgaria

Heinzel Sales Liaison Office
South Africa Region
Sandton, South Africa

Europapier Austria GmbH
Vienna, Austria

Heinzel Sales Pacific Holding Ltd.
Vancouver, Canada

Premier Paper Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Ukraine
Kiev, Ukraine

S.A. Wahren
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Argentina
San Isidro, Argentina

Simpeks Kagit Ürünleri Ltd.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Turkey
Istanbul, Turkey

GFP
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Brazil
Sao Paulo, Brazil

Europapier CIS GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

Europapier CEE GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

99%
Heinzel Import-Export Inc.
New York, USA

90%

Heinzelsales USA Trading Inc.
New York, USA

90%

Heinzel Sales Italy S.r.l.
Milan, Italy

100%

Heinzel Sales France S.A.S.
Paris, France

100%

100%

64%

100%

100%

100%

77.5%
North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Vancouver, Canada

1%

99%

Tabarak Import & Export Co.
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Sudan
Khartoum, Sudan
New PlanET
Heinzel Sales Liaison Office Seoul
Seoul, Korea

100%

LLC Europapier
Moscow, Russia

100%

Europapier Budapest Kft.
Budapest, Hungary

Lexica – SFE JSC
Moscow, Russia

100%

Europapier Alpe d.o.o.
Ljubljana, Slovenia

50%

Europapier Dunav Papir d.o.o.
Belgrade, Serbia

100%

100%

EU-RO Handelsges.m.b.H.
Frastanz, Austria

100%

99.99%

Europapier Romania Srl.
Bucharest, Romania

Europapier Bohemia spol. s.r.o.
Prague, Czech Republic

100%

100%

Europapier Hercegtisak d.o.o.
Široki Brijeg, Bosnia

Europapier Poland GmbH
Hinterbrühl, Austria

100%

100%

Europapier Slovensko s.r.o.
Bratislava, Slovakia

100%

Europapier Adria d.o.o.
Sesvete-Zagreb, Croatia

Europapier Polska Sp.z.o.o.
Błonie, Poland

North Rim Pulp & Paper Inc.
Beijing Office
Beijing, China

Europapier Bulgaria EOOD
Sofia, Bulgaria

Rinner GmbH
Salzburg, Austria
8.34%

100%

Moderne Verpackung
Hoffmann GmbH
Jeging, Austria

0.01%

100%

53.33%
38.33%
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BROAD SPECTRUM, GLOBAL PRESENCE

MILESTONES IN THE
COMPANY HISTORY
With the help of banks and the
management, Alfred Heinzel
purchased Wilfried Heinzel AG,
today’s heinzelsales, from his
uncle Wilfried.

Acquisition of
Biocel Paskov

Start-up of
Estonian Cell

100% takeover of
Estonian Cell

Acquisition of the
Laakirchen paper mill
as well as 51% of
Bunzl & Biach

1991

2001

2006

2011

2013

2000

2004

2010

2012

Acquisition of
Zellstoff Pöls

33% participation in
the Estonian Cell
greenfield BCTMP pulp
mill investment

Sale of 75% of
the shareholding
in Biocel Paskov;
acquisition of
Europapier

Europapier purchased
the paper merchant
business of PaperlinX in
Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Croatia and Serbia;
disposal of the remaining
shares in Biocel Paskov

End-of-year acquisition
of the containerboard
mill in Raubling
and Chiemgau
Recycling
2015

2014

Activation of the
converted PM10 for
the production of
containerboard in
Laakirchen
2017

2016

2018

First full business Decision to convert the Further expansion of the global
year with the new
PM10 in Laakirchen
presence through acquisition
PM2, the Starkraft
for the production of
of Firgos Malaysia; takeover of
kraft paper machine
packaging paper
packaging specialist Carl Bernh.
in Pöls;
Hoffmann GmbH; acquisition
of M-Cyklus and complete
investment in a
takeover
of Austrian Recycling;
biogas plant for
construction
of PM3
Estonian Cell
started in Pöls
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